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FLYING TO WIN

COPA HOLDINGS GENERATED CONSOLIDATED REVENUE PER
AVAILABLE SEAT MILE OF 10.34 CENTS.

COPA AIRLINES STRENGTHENED ITS ROUTE NETWORK BY
INCREASING FREQUENCIES IN SEVEN DESTINATIONS AND
BEGINNING SERVICE TO ONE NEW CITY. 

COPA HOLDINGS PURCHASED AEROREPÚBLICA, COLOMBIA’S
SECOND LARGEST CARRIER.

AEROREPÚBLICA GAINED INTERNATIONAL CONNECTIVITY
THROUGH DAILY FLIGHTS FROM CARTAGENA AND MEDELLIN
INTO COPA AIRLINES´ “HUB OF THE AMERICAS”.

COPA AIRLINES IMPLEMENTED AIRMAX, A NEW PASSENGER
REVENUE MANAGEMENT SYSTEM.

COPA AIRLINES ANNOUNCED A CODESHARE AGREEMENT WITH
GOL (LINHAS AÉREAS INTELIGENTES DE BRASIL).

COPA AIRLINES INCREASED CARGO AND COURIER REVENUES
THROUGH THE INTRODUCTION OF DIFFERENTIATED CARGO
PRODUCTS.

COPA AIRLINES INCREASED DIRECT SALES THROUGH ITS
WEBSITE, WWW.COPAAIR.COM.

COLLABORATED WITH PANAMA’S AVIATION AUTHORITIES TO
MEET CURRENT AND FUTURE INFRASTRUCTURE NEEDS AT
TOCUMEN INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (HUB OF THE AMERICAS).  

KEEPING OUR COSTS COMPETITIVE

COPA HOLDINGS ACHIEVED CONSOLIDATED OPERATING
EXPENSES PER AVAILABLE SEAT MILE, EXCLUDING FUEL, OF 6.52
CENTS, BELOW MAJOR HUB AND SPOKE CARRIERS AND IN LINE
WITH LOW-COST CARRIERS. 

COPA AIRLINES COMPLETED ITS FLEET RENOVATION PROGRAM
WITH THE DELIVERY OF TWO ADDITIONAL BOEING 737-NEXT
GENERATION AIRCRAFT. 

COPA AIRLINES TOOK DELIVERY OF ITS FIRST TWO EMBRAER 190
AIRCRAFT FOR UTILIZATION IN MEDIUM DENSITY MARKETS.

AT YEAR END, COPA AIRLINES’ AVERAGE FLEET AGE STOOD AT
APPROXIMATELY 3.2 YEARS AND IS CURRENTLY ONE OF THE
YOUNGEST AND MOST EFFICIENT IN THE THE WORLD.

COPA AIRLINES ACHIEVED FUEL-CONSUMPTION CONTROL PER
BLOCK HOUR BELOW 810 GALLONS/HOUR.

COPA AIRLINES ARRANGED FAVORABLE FINANCING FOR THE
AIRCRAFT TO BE DELIVERED IN 2006.  

COPA ARLINES REDUCED DISTRIBUTION COSTS.

COPA AIRLINES IMPLEMENTED VISAIR, A NEW MRO SYSTEM
(MAINTENANCE, REPAIR AND OVERHAUL) FOR ITS NEW
EMBRAER 190 AIRCRAFT.

WORKING TOGETHER 

COPA AIRLINES ACHIEVED AN 81% JOB SATISFACTION RATE
AMONG EMPLOYEES ON AN ANNUAL INTERNAL SURVEY. 

COPA AIRLINES CONTINUED TO FOSTER INDIVIDUAL AND
COLLECTIVE PERFORMANCE THROUGH PROFIT-SHARING
LINKED TO THE ACHIEVEMENT OF CORPORATE AND
PERSONAL OBJECTIVES.

CONTINUED STRENGTHENING INTERNAL COMMUNICATIONS
WITH ALL EMPLOYEES.

CONTINUED FOCUSING ON OUR CORPORATE SOCIAL
RESPONSIBILITY INITIATIVES THROUGH COPA’S NONPROFIT
FOUNDATION, FUNDACIÓN DESPEGA CON COPA AIRLINES (“TAKE
OFF WITH COPA AIRLINES”), AND VOLUNTEER PROGRAM DESPEGA
TOCUMEN WHICH INCORPORATED TWO NEW CITIES IN 2005.

STRENGTHENED OUR MANAGERS AND SUPERVISORS’
MANAGEMENT CAPABILITIES THROUGH LEADERSHIP TRAINING
SEMINARS.

IMPLEMENTED E-LEARNING, A KEY COMPONENT OF OUR IN-
HOUSE TRAINING PROGRAM.

REMODELED EXISTING FACILITIES TO ACCOMMODATE COPA
OFFICES AT TOCUMEN INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT.

STRENGTHENING OUR PRODUCT 

COPA AIRLINES ACHIEVED AN ON-TIME PERFORMANCE OF 91.7
PERCENT - AMONG THE BEST IN THE INDUSTRY - AND A FLIGHT-
COMPLETION FACTOR OF 99.6 PERCENT.

COPA AIRLINES MAINTAINED BAGGAGE CLAIM NUMBERS AT
FEWER THAN 1 PER 1,000 PASSENGERS.

COPA AIRLINES WAS CERTIFIED UNDER IATA’S OPERATIONAL
SAFETY AUDIT (IOSA), GUARANTEEING COMPLIANCE WITH THE
HIGHEST SAFETY STANDARDS IN THE INDUSTRY.

COPA AIRLINES IMPLEMENTED CRM TOOLS FOR PERSONNEL
WHO HAVE DIRECT CUSTOMER CONTACT.

COPA AIRLINES EARNED SKYTRAX AWARDS FOR BEST AIRLINE IN
CENTRAL AMERICA, MEXICO AND THE CARIBBEAN – FOR THE
SECOND CONSECUTIVE YEAR – AND FOR BEST CREW IN THE
REGION.

COPA AIRLINES REVAMPED ITS WEBSITE, WWW.COPAAIR.COM, IN
SPANISH, ENGLISH AND PORTUGUESE.

COPA AIRLINES ARRANGED FOR THE DELIVERY IN 2006 OF AN
ASCENT FFS X™ FLIGHT SIMULATOR, EQUIPPED WITH ADVANCED
PILOT-TRAINING TECHNOLOGY.

“ROUTE TO SUCCESS” 2005 Accomplishments In 2005, Copa’s management team and employees continued to foster and implement its four-part
business objectives plan called “Route to Success,” designed to create strategic focus on the Company´s core objectives for
each year.  The plan’s four pillars are Flying to Win, which focuses on the markets and systems that lead to revenue
generation; Keeping Our Costs Competitive, our cost-control component; Strengthening Our Product, our customer-focused
initiatives; and Working Together, which relates both to our organizational development as well as external relations with the
communities where we operate.   

Enoy Montilla, Dyane Alvarado, Juan Aparicio, Daniel Saldaña,
Lastenia Sierra and Mónica Díaz / Ticket Counter Agents

Arsacio Cerrud / Ramp Area Alejandra Perdomo and Anabell Barrios / Traffic AgentsJorge Luis González and César Gutiérrez / Bagagge Handlers
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HIGHLIGHTS

FINANCIAL SUMMARY Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars, except share and per share data)

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Total operating revenues 290,372 300,637 341,789 399,837 608,574 

Total operating expenses 265,368 269,796 283,493 317,494 499,422 

Operating income 25,004 30,841 58,296 82,343 109,152

Net income (loss) 14,818 20,668 48,489 68,572 82,999 

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 28,385 34,476 61,432 110,943 114,490 

Total property and equipment 227,717 345,411 480,488 541,211 637,543 

Total assets 300,121 421,935 591,915 702,050 916,912 

Long-term debt 111,125 211,698 311,991 380,827 402,954 

Total shareholders' equity 46,426 67,094 115,583 174,155 245,867

Basic Earnings (loss) per share 0.35 0.48 1.13 1.60 1.94

REVENUE BREAKDOWN

7.1% Cargo,
mail and other

92.9%
Passenger

Revenue

REVENUE BREAKDOWN BY REGION
Based on Revenue by Point of Sale

39.6%
South America

31.6%
Central America

17.2%
North America

11.6%
Caribbean

OPERATING DATA Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Revenue passengers carried (millions) 1,794 1,819 2,028 2,333 4,361 

Revenue passenger miles (millions) 1,870 1,875 2,193 2,548 3,831 

Available seat miles (millions) 2,920 2,847 3,226 3,639 5,368 

Load factor 64.0% 65.9% 68.0% 70.0% 71.4%

Break-even load factor 58.7% 54.5% 52.8% 52.6% 57.9%

Total block hours 59,760 58,112 64,909 70,228 103,628 

Average daily aircraft utilization (hours) 9.1 8.8 9.0 9.3 9.8

Yield (cents) 13.79 14.38 14.22 14.31 14.75 

Passenger revenue per ASM (cents) 8.83 9.47 9.66 10.02 10.53 

Operating revenue per ASM  (cents) 9.94 10.56 10.60 10.99 11.34 

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) (cents) 9.09 9.48 8.79 8.72 9.30

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) before aircraft fuel (cents) 7.50 8.07 7.28 7.01 6.52 

Departures 23,742 23,361 25,702 27,434 48,934 

Average daily departures 65.0 64.0 70.4 75.0 156.6 

Average number of aircraft 18.0 18.1 19.8 20.6 31.0

Airports served at period end 28 27 28 29 43

REVENUE PASSENGER MILES (RPM's)
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2001 2002 2003 2004 2005
0
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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN AND CEO

In August, Copa Airlines was certified

under IATA’s Operational Safety Audit

Program (IOSA). With this certification

Copa Airlines joins an exclusive group of

global airlines that have completed the

audit, which guarantees compliance with

the highest safety standards in the industry.

In December, Copa Holdings completed a

successful initial public offering on the New

York Stock Exchange.  As part of our

commitment to maintaining best practices in

corporate governance and compliance, Copa

Holdings named two independent members

to its Board of Directors, Mr. José Castañeda

and Mr. Roberto Artavia, who also are

members of our Audit Committee and qualify

as independent directors by NYSE standards.  

At Copa, we take pride in contributing to the

development of our communities. Throughout

2005, our nonprofit foundation, Fundación

Despega con Copa Airlines (“Take Off with

Copa Airlines”), focused on improving

educational levels through financial and

technical assistance to schools in low-income

communities in Panama, El Salvador,

Nicaragua and Colombia. We are proud to

say that the volunteer participation of our

employees, in collaboration with UNICEF

(United Nations Children´s Fund), has had

an important regional impact. Additionally,

Copa continued to support other non-profit

organizations in 2005, focusing on the

environment, children and education; with

assistance and in-kind services. We also

maintained our CSR “in house” focus with our

employee emergency assistance programs,

educational scholarships and focus on

professional growth and advancement.

We expect 2006 to be another year of

strong growth, and our team continues its

readiness to take advantage of new

opportunities. Copa Airlines will increase its

fleet from 24 to 30 aircraft, while

AeroRepública, with the arrival of its first

four EMB-190’s, begins a fleet renewal

program to replace its MD80 aircraft.

AeroRepública will end the year with 13

aircraft, for a consolidated total fleet for

Copa Holdings of 43 aircraft. 

During 2006, Copa Airlines will add six new

destinations to its route network, bringing the

total served from our hub to 36 major cities in

North, South, Central America and the

Caribbean. These new destinations, along

with additional frequencies planned to

markets we already serve, will continue to

make the “Hub of the Americas” the preferred

connecting point for travelers in the region. 

In short, 2005 was a very positive year for

Copa Holdings. We have set the stage for

continued growth and profitability. Our

business model and competitive

advantages are strong, and we will continue

to strengthen them. We personally thank

our management team and all of our

employees, the driving force behind these

results. We are certain they will be able to

meet and exceed any challenges we may

encounter in 2006 and beyond. 

To our new shareholders, thank you for your

support. Rest assured our management

team, our employees and our entire

organization are as committed as ever to

continue delivering world-class results.

Sincerely,

Pedro Heilbron Stanley Motta
Executive President Chairman
and CEO Copa Holdings, S.A.
Copa Holdings, S.A.

Copa Holdings enjoyed an extraordinary

2005. The year was marked by the

completion of Copa Airlines’ fleet renewal;

the acquisition of AeroRepública, Colombia’s

second largest domestic airline; increased

frequencies in seven markets and one new

destination; delivery of our first two Embraer

190 aircraft; and a very successful initial

public offering on the New York Stock

Exchange (NYSE) in December.

Despite the challenges facing the airline

industry, including record-high fuel prices,

we have maintained our focus on delivering

a world-class product to our passengers,

while at the same time achieving the highest

standards of on-time performance and

reliability within a competitive cost structure.

As a result, Copa Holdings obtained record

earnings of US$83.0 million for the year, an

increase of 21 percent when compared to

2004.  At year end, our operating margin

stood at 17.9 percent on revenues of $608.6

million, among the best in the industry.  For

the same period, our unit costs, excluding

fuel, decreased 6.4 percent to US$6.52 cents,

below that of major hub-and-spoke carriers

and in line with leading low-cost carriers.  

Our 2005 results are a reflection of a proven

business model that centers on our “Hub of

the Americas” in Panama, which arguably

has become the most convenient connecting

point for intra-Latin American passenger

traffic.  Our hub advantage, the fact that we

possess one of the youngest and most

efficient fleets in the world, our highly

motivated and customer-oriented workforce

and our continued focus on reducing costs

are key factors that have contributed to Copa

Holdings’ successful results.

Copa Airlines continued to earn prestigious

international recognition in 2005. For the

second year in a row, Copa Airlines

received Skytrax awards for “Best Airline in

Central America, Mexico and the

Caribbean” and for “Best In-flight Crews in

the Region.” Once again, Copa Airlines’

operational performance placed us among

the best in the world, with an on-time

arrival rate for the year of 91.7 percent and

a flight-completion factor of 99.6 percent.  
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Copa Holdings, S.A. is a publicly traded

foreign private issuer listed on the New

York Stock Exchange (NYSE: CPA).

Copa’s corporate governance practices are

regulated by the NYSE, the Company’s

Pacto Social (Articles of Incorporation), the

U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission

(SEC), and Panama’s Comisión Nacional

de Valores (CNV). 

Copa Holdings and its subsidiaries have

adopted a Code of Business Conduct and

Ethics designed to provide reasonable

assurance that its directors, officers,

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Audit Committee is responsible for the coordination of

the internal audit process, appointment of the independent

auditors and presenting to the board of directors its

opinion with respect to the financial statements and the

areas that are subject to an audit process. Messrs. José

Castañeda, Roberto Artavia and Pedro Heilbron are the

current members of our Audit Committee, and Mr. José

Castañeda is the chairman of the audit committee as well

as our audit committee financial expert. 

Audit Committee

Compensation Committee

Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee

Our Compensation Committee is responsible for the

selection process of the Chief Executive Officer and the

evaluation of all executive officers (including the CEO),

recommending the level of compensation and any

associated bonus. Messrs. Stanley Motta, Jaime Arias and

José Castañeda are the members of our Compensation

Committee and Mr. Stanley Motta is the Chairman of the

Compensation Committee. 

Our Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee is

responsible for developing and recommending criteria for

selecting new directors, screening and recommending to the

board of directors individuals qualified to become executive

officers, overseeing evaluations of the board of directors, its

members and committees of the board of directors and

handling other matters that are specifically delegated to the

committee by the board of directors from time to time. Our

charter documents require that there be at least one

independent member of the Nominating and Corporate

Governance Committee. Messrs. Ricardo Arias, Osvaldo

Heilbron and Roberto Artavia are the members of our

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee, and Mr.

Ricardo Arias is the Chairman of the Nominating and

Corporate Governance Committee.

employees and consultants act in

accordance with not only the letter but

also the spirit of the laws and regulations

that apply to the airline’s business and

with the highest ethical standards of

business conduct.  

Copa Holdings has established Disclosure

and Insider Trading Policies to address the

unauthorized disclosure of any nonpublic

information acquired in the workplace and

the misuse of material nonpublic

information in securities trading. 
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS MANAGEMENT

Name Position Term Expires

Pedro Heilbron Chief Executive Officer and Director 2008

Stanley Motta Chairman and Director 2007

Osvaldo Heilbron Director 2008

Jaime Arias Director 2007

Ricardo Alberto Arias Director 2008

Alberto C. Motta, Jr.  Director 2007

Mark Erwin Director 2008 

George Mason Director 2007 

Roberto Artavia Loria Director 2008 

José Castañeda Velez Director 2007

Our Board of Directors

provides Copa Holdings’

overall strategic direction,

establishes general

business policies, appoint

its executive officers and

supervises their

management. The Board is

currently comprised of 10

members serving two-year

alternating terms.  Messrs.

Pedro Heilbron, Osvaldo

Heilbron, Ricardo Arias,

Mark Erwin, and Roberto

Artavia were each re-

elected to two-year terms

at our annual

shareholders’ meeting held

on May 12, 2006. 

Name Position 

Pedro Heilbron Chief Executive Officer - Copa Airlines

Victor Vial Chief Financial Officer - Copa Airlines

Lawrence Ganse Senior Vice-President of Operations - Copa Airlines

Jorge Isaac García Vice-President, Commercial - Copa Airlines

Daniel Gunn Vice-President of Planning - Copa Airlines

Jaime Aguirre Vice President of Maintenance - Copa Airlines

Vidalia de Casado Vice President of Passenger Services - Copa Airlines

Alexander Gianareas Senior Director of Human Resources - Copa Airlines

Roberto Junguito Pombo Chief Executive Officer - AeroRepública

Independent Directors Committee Our Independent Directors Committee is created by our

Articles of Incorporation and consists of any directors that

the board of directors determines from time to time meet

the independence requirements of the NYSE and the

Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Our

Articles of Incorporation provide that there will be three

independent directors at all times, subject to certain

exceptions. Under our Articles of Incorporation, the

Independent Directors Committee must approve: 

• any transactions in excess of $5 million between Copa

Holdings and its controlling shareholders, 

• the designation of certain primary share issuances that

will not be included in the calculation of the percentage

ownership pertaining to the Class B shares for

purposes of determining whether the Class A shares

should be converted to voting shares under our

Articles of Incorporation, and 

• the issuance of additional Class B shares or Class C

shares to ensure Copa Airlines compliance with

aviation laws and regulations. 

Pedro Heilbron Daniel GunnJorge Isaac GarcíaLawrence GanseVictor Vial 

Jaime Aguirre Roberto Junguito PomboAlexander GianareasVidalia de Casado
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OUR COMPANY / OUR BUSINESS

Copa Holdings was

incorporated in 1998 as a

corporation (sociedad

anónima) under the laws of

Panama with an indefinite

duration. It was organized

to be a holding company

for Copa and related

companies in connection

with the acquisition by

Continental of its 49%

interest in Copa at that time.

Copa Airlines is our principal airline operating subsidiary that

operates out of our hub in Panama and provides passenger

service in North, South and Central America and the Caribbean.

AeroRepública S.A. is our operating subsidiary that primarily

operates domestic flights within Colombia. 

Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd. controls the special purpose

vehicles that have a beneficial interest in the majority of our aircraft. 

OPAC, S.A. is a property holding company that owns our former

corporate headquarters facility. 

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

SHAREHOLDER STRUCTURE

ORGANIZATIONAL STRUCTURE

Copa Holdings, S.A.
(Panama)

Compañía Panameña de Aviación, S.A.
(Copa) (Panama)

AeroRepública S.A.
(Colombia)

Oval Financial Leasing, Ltd.
(British Virgin Islands)

OPAC, S.A.
(Panama)

9
9

.8
%

9
9

.6
%

1
0

0
%

1
0

0
%

Ownership Structure* Class A Class B Total % Ownership

Corporación de Inversiones Aéreas, S.A. (CIASA) - 12,778,125 12,778,125 29.8%

Continental Airlines, Inc. 11,921,875 - 11,921,875 27.8%

NYSE - Float 18,112,500 - 18,112,500 42.3%

Total 30,034,375 12,778,125 42,812,500 100.0%

* As of December 31, 2005

SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA Year Ended December 31,
(in thousands of dollars)

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Operating revenue 290,372 300,637 341,789 399,837 505,655 

Operating expenses 265,368 269,796 283,493 317,494 402,684 

Depreciation 13,325 13,377 14,040 19,279 19,242 

Aircraft rentals 20,106 21,182 16,686 14,445 22,096 

Interest expense 10,988 7,629 11,613 16,488 19,424 

Interest capitalized 1,592 1,114 2,009 963 1,089 

Interest income 701 831 887 1,423 3,376 

Net income (loss) before tax 16,640 23,667 52,133 74,304 89,745 

Total assets 300,121 421,935 591,915 702,050 851,075 

SEGMENT OPERATING DATA Year Ended December 31,

2001 2002 2003 2004 2005

Available seat miles (millions) 2,920 2,847 3,226 3,639 4,409 

Load factor 64.0% 65.9% 68.0% 70.0% 73.4%

Break-even load factor 58.7% 54.5% 52.8% 52.6% 56.8%

Yield (cents) 13.79 14.38 14.22 14.31 14.41 

Operating revenue per ASM (cents) 9.94 10.56 10.60 10.99 11.47 

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) (cents) 9.09 9.48 8.79 8.72 9.13

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) before aircraft fuel (cents) 7.50 8.07 7.28 7.01 6.62

Average stage length (miles) 1,023 1,010 1,028 1,047 1,123

On time performance 87.7% 90.5% 91.4% 91.8% 91.7%

COPA AIRLINES HIGHLIGHTS
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Copa Airlines is a leading Latin American provider of

international airline passenger and cargo service. Operating

from its strategically located position in Panama, Copa Airlines

began operations in 1947 and currently offers approximately

92 daily scheduled flights among 30 destinations in 20

countries in North, Central and South America and the

Caribbean. Additionally, Copa Airlines provides passengers

with access to flights to more than 120 other destinations

through codeshare arrangements with Continental Airlines.

Copa Airlines provides its services through its Hub of the

Americas in Panama City, which enables it to consolidate

passenger traffic from multiple points to serve each

destination effectively.  

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Among Copa Airlines’ primary business

strengths are:

• Strategic location of the “Hub of the Americas”

• Low operating costs

• Modern and efficient fleet

• Strong brand and reputation for quality service

• Comprehensive alliance with Continental Airlines

• Culture of teamwork and continuous

improvement

HISTORY

Copa Airlines operates one of the youngest fleets in the

world. As of December 31, 2005, Copa Airlines’ 24-aircraft

fleet consists of 22 Boeing 737 - Next Generation aircraft (18

737-700s and four 737-800s) and two Embraer 190s with an

average age of approximately 3.2 years. Copa Airlines’

flexible fleet plan is designed to support profitable growth.

As of December 31, 2005, Copa Airlines had firm orders for

seven Boeing 737 - Next Generation aircraft and ten

Embraer 190s, and options / purchase rights to purchase

28 additional aircraft through 2011.

COPA FLEET EXPECTED FLEET PLAN (YEAR END)*

Aircraft Type 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

737-700 18 20 20 20 20

737-800 4 4 6 8 10

Embraer 190 2 6 11 15 20

Total Fleet 24 30 37 43 50

* As of December 31, 2005.

1947 1986 - 1988 1992 1998 2005

• Motta Group acquires
majority control

• New management
team takes over

• Continental Airlines acquires
49% of Copa Airlines

• Comprehensive Copa-
Continental alliance begins

• Launched as
a joint venture
with Pan Am

• Hub operation at
Panama’s Tocumen
Airport Commences

• Copa Airlines fleet
renovation is completed

• Copa Airlines receives
first two EMB-190’s

• Copa Holdings acquires
AeroRepública

PASSENGER OPERATIONS

As of December 31, 2005,

Copa Airlines provided

regularly scheduled flights to

30 cities in North, Central and

South America and the

Caribbean.  All our flights

operate through our Hub of

the Americas at Tocumen

International Airport in

Panama.   Passenger

revenues accounted for

approximately 92.2 percent of

Copa Airlines’ total revenues

in 2005, all earned from

international routes.  

Copa has a strong brand and

a reputation for quality

service.  Its excellent on-time

performance, completion

factor and baggage handling

demonstrate its focus on

customer service, which has

helped to build its passenger

loyalty.  Copa’s brand also

has been enhanced through

our relationship with

Continental Airlines, including

joint marketing of the award-

winning OnePass frequent-

flyer program in Latin

America, the similarity of

aircraft livery and aircraft

interiors and its participation

in Continental’s President’s

Club lounge program. 

OUR PRODUCT

CARGO OPERATIONS

Through its Copa Cargo and

Copa Courier services, Copa

Airlines makes efficient use of

extra aircraft capacity. The

airlines cargo business

generated revenues of

approximately $39.6 million in

2005, representing 7.8 percent

of our operating revenues. 

ONEPASS

Copa rewards customer

loyalty through its participation

in Continental´s OnePass

program, as well as through

passenger upgrades and

access to President’s Club

lounges. Passengers may

accrue and redeem OnePass

miles on all Copa and

Continental Airlines´ flights, as

well as on flights with

OnePass alliance partners. 

BUSINESS CLASS

Copa´s business class

travelers have access to

special check-in lines at

airport counters, boarding

gates and priority baggage

handling; leather seats on

Boeing 737-700 and -800

aircraft; access to all

President’s Club and VIP

lounges worldwide, and

other benefits.

PRESIDENTS CLUB

Copa and Continental jointly

operate a 600 sq. mt.

President´s Club at the Hub of

the Americas in Panama City,

with capacity for 100 persons.

These facilities provide

members with convenient

access to facilities and

services including agent

assistance, communication

services, complimentary

internet access and a fully

equipped conference room. 
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A major business strength that has allowed

Copa Airlines to compete successfully in the

airline passenger and cargo industry is

its “Hub of the Americas” at Tocumen

International Airport in Panama City, Panama.  

Copa Airlines’ hub, in the geographically

central location of Panama, provides

convenient connections to its principal

markets in North, Central and South

America and the Caribbean, enabling it to

consolidate traffic to serve many

destinations that do not generate enough

demand to justify point-to-point service. 

From Panama’s central location, Copa

Airlines’ fleet of Boeing 737 - Next

Generation aircraft can efficiently serve

long-haul destinations in South American

cities such as Santiago, Chile; Buenos

Aires, Argentina; and São Paulo, Brazil as

well as short-haul destinations in Central,

South America and the Caribbean. 

Flights from Panama operate with few

service disruptions due to weather,

contributing to high completion factors and

on-time performance. The airport’s sea-

level location is ideal for Copa Airlines’

operations, allowing its aircraft to operate

efficiently without performance restrictions

which may be more of a factor at higher-

altitude airports. Aditionally, Tocumen is the

only airport in Central America with two

operational runways and offers ample room

to expand operations. The airport is

currently in the final stages of an expansion

project which has resulted in the addition of

8 new international gates (from 14 to 22

gates) and nine new remote positions. 

Travelers generally can make fast and

easy connections through Tocumen

International Airport because of its

manageable size and Panama’s policies

accommodating in-transit passengers.

Average connection time at Tocumen is

approximately one hour.

Finally, Copa Airlines’ hub in Panama allows

it to benefit from Panama City’s status as a

center for financial services, shipping and

commerce and from Panama’s stable,

dollar-based economy, free trade zone and

growing tourism industry. 

HUB OF THE AMERICAS



18 Copa Holdings, S.A. • Annual Report 2005 19

Copa Holdings purchased AeroRepública in April 2005. As of December 31, 2005,

AeroRepública was Colombia’s second-largest passenger air carrier with a market

share of approximately 25.2 percent of the domestic traffic in Colombia in 2005 and

approximately 1,239 employees.

AeroRepública operates twelve aircraft to twelve cities in Colombia, the third most

populous country in Latin America.  The acquisition of AeroRepública enhances Copa

Holdings’ operations by providing additional access to the Colombian market and

feeding additional traffic into Copa Airlines’ “Hub of the Americas” in Panama.  

AEROREPÚBLICA

AeroRepública currently

operates a fleet of one

owned DC-9s, five

leased MD-81s, four

leased MD-82s and two

leased MD-83s. All of

AeroRepública’s fleet is

configured as a single

class, with the MD fleet

having an average

capacity of 157 seats

and the DC-9 fleet

having an average

capacity of 110 seats. 

In the first quarter of

2006, AeroRepública

placed firm orders for

five Embraer 190 aircraft

with purchase rights and

options for up to 20

additional Embraer

aircraft.  Delivery of four

Embraer 190 aircraft is

expected in late 2006.

The configuration of

AeroRepública’s Embraer

190 will be single class

with a capacity of 106

passengers.

FLEET FLEET PLAN

ROUTE MAP

SEGMENT FINANCIAL DATA Year Ended
(in thousands of dollars) December 31,

2005

Operating revenue 102,976 

Operating expenses 96,839 

Depreciation 615 

Aircraft rentals 5,535 

Interest expense 2,205 

Interest income 208 

Net income (loss) before tax 2,846 

Total assets 98,091 

AEROREPÚBLICA HIGHLIGHTS (Since April 22, 2005)

AeroRepública’s business primarily consists of passenger service, which in 2005 accounted

for approximately 97 percent of its total revenues.  The majority of AeroRepública’s

customers are leisure travelers and passengers visiting friends and family; traffic is heaviest

during the vacation months of July and August, and the holiday season in December.

In December 2005, Copa Airlines and AeroRepública announced a codeshare agreement to

provide passengers of both airlines greater flight options to and from Cali, Medellín and

Cartagena, as well as access to a variety of destinations in Latin America through the “Hub

of the Americas” in Panama.  

EXPECTETED FLEET AT END OF YEAR

2005 2006 2007 2008 2009

MD-80’s 11 9 8 6 3

Embraer 190 0 4 5 7 10

DC-9 1 - - - -

Total 12 13 13 13 13

SEGMENT OPERATING DATA Year Ended
December 31,

2005

Available seat miles (millions) 950 

Load factor 62.0%

Break even load factor 60.8%

Yield (cents) 16.61 

Operating revenue per ASM (cents) 10.74 

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) (cents) 10.10

Operating expenses per ASM (CASM) (cents)

before aircraft fuel 6.09

Average stage length (miles) 360



20 Copa Holdings, S.A. • Annual Report 2005 21

CONTINENTAL AIRLINES

In May 1998, Copa Airlines

entered into an alliance

agreement with Continental

Airlines.  The alliance, which

initially encompassed a 49

percent Continental investment

in Copa Airlines, allows the two

airlines to coordinate product

positioning, codesharing,

pricing, scheduling and joint

marketing initiatives.  

As part of the alliance, Copa

Airlines introduced a new image

to align itself more tangibly with

Continental, including color

scheme, logo, aircraft interior

and staff uniforms similar to

Continental’s. Copa’s business-

class product Clase Ejecutiva

and smoke-free cabin also

were modeled on Continental’s. 

Business-class passengers on

Copa enjoy access to

Continental’s President’s Club

lounges, and the two airlines

jointly operate a co-branded

President’s Club lounge at

Tocumen International Airport. 

Copa Airlines has adopted

Continental’s OnePass

frequent flyer program globally

and on a co-branded basis in

Latin America, enabling Copa

to develop brand loyalty

among business travelers. 

Copa’s designator code

appears on Continental-

operated flights from Panama

to Houston and Panama to

Newark. In addition, flights

carrying the Copa code

operate to over 120 other

Continental destinations,

primarily through Continental’s

international gateways in

Houston and Newark. 

The two airlines cooperate

closely to fully integrate both

airlines’ maintenance

programs. Continental and

Copa’s maintenance programs

for the Boeing 737-Next

Generation are identical. Copa

shares Continental’s Sceptre

inventory management

software which allows it to

pool spare parts with the

larger airline.  Additionally.

Continental provides

engineering support for

maintenance projects. Copa

has also been able to take

advantage of Continental’s

purchasing power to negotiate

more competitive rates for

spare parts and third-party

maintenance work.

Copa and Continental share

co-branded city ticket offices,

throughout Latin America and

have launched joint corporate

and travel agency incentive

programs.  

Continental is currently

sponsoring Copa’s proposed

association with the Sky Team

global alliance network, which

also includes Delta,

Northwest, Aeromexico, Air

France, Alitalia, KLM, Korean

Air, AeroFlot and CSA Czech. 

ALLIANCES

Copa Airlines has formed valuable strategic and

commercial alliances with select airline partners to

expand its reach and global network, and to increase the

convenience, flexibility and added value it offers to its

passengers. Copa Airlines is committed to working with

its alliance partners to continually exceed passenger

expectations, whether they are traveling on business or

pleasure across the Americas or worldwide.

GOL LÍNEAS AÉREAS INTELIGENTES, S.A.

MEXICANA DE AVIACIÓN 

GULFSTREAM INTERNATIONAL AIRLINES 

NORTHWEST AIRLINES

OTHER ALLIANCES:
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MANAGEMENT PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS

OPERATING REVENUE

COPA SEGMENT OPERATING REVENUE

Our consolidated revenue totaled $608.6 million in 2005, a 52.2% increase over operating

revenue of $399.8 million in 2004 due to increases in our Copa segment’s passenger and

cargo revenues, and the consolidation of $103.0 million in operating revenues from our

AeroRepública segment.

Our consolidated net income in 2005 totaled $83.0 million, a 21.0% increase over net

income of $68.6 million in 2004. We had consolidated operating income of $109.2 million in

2005, a 32.6% increase over operating income of $82.3 million in 2004. Our consolidated

operating margin in 2005 was 17.9%, a decrease of 2.7 percentage points over an operating

margin of 20.6% in 2004, primarily as a result of higher fuel prices and our consolidation of

AeroRepública’s results from its acquisition on April 22, 2005.

OPERATING EXPENSES

Our consolidated operating expenses totaled $499.4 million in 2005, a 57.3% increase over operating expenses of $317.5

million in 2004 that was primarily attributable to the growth of our operations, higher fuel costs, and the consolidation of

$96.8 million in operating expenses from our AeroRepública segment.

In 2005, our operating expenses per available seat mile excluding aircraft fuel was 6.52 cents, a 6.9% decrease over

operating expenses per available seat mile excluding aircraft fuel of 7.01 cents in 2004. Aircraft fuel per available seat mile

was 2.78 cents in 2005, compared to 1.72 cents in 2004. In 2005 our total operating expenses per available seat mile was

9.30 cents, a 6.6% increase over operating expenses per available seat mile of 8.72 cents in 2004.

An overview of the major variances on a consolidated basis follows:

The remaining operating expenses totaled $184.7 million in 2005, an increase of $49.7 million in 2004, of which $32.4

million corresponded to the consolidation of AeroRepública.

AEROREPÚBLICA SEGMENT OPERATING REVENUE

Since April 22, 2005, the date on which we began consolidating AeroRepública’s results, AeroRepública generated

operating revenues of $103.0 million.

Copa’s operating revenue totaled $505.7 million in 2005, a 26.5% increase over operating

revenue of $399.8 million in 2004 due to increases in both passenger and cargo revenues.

Passenger revenue

Passenger revenue totaled

$466.1 million in 2005, a

27.8% increase over

passenger revenue of

$364.6 million in 2004. This

increase resulted primarily

from the addition of capacity

(ASMs increased by 21.2%

in 2005 as compared to

2004) that resulted from an

increase in departures and,

to a lesser extent, longer

average stage length and the

addition of larger aircraft.

Revenues also increased

due to our higher overall load

factor (load factor increased

from 70.1% in 2004 to 73.4%

in 2005) during the period

and the simultaneous

increase in passenger yield,

which rose by 0.8% to 14.41

cents in 2005.

Cargo, mail and other

Cargo, mail and other totaled

$39.6 million in 2005, a 12.4%

increase over cargo, mail and

other of $35.2 million in 2004.

This increase was primarily the

result of higher cargo revenue

resulting from an increase in

belly space capacity available,

and to a lesser extent higher

other operating revenue from

excess baggage fees.

Aircraft fuel

Aircraft fuel totaled $149.3

million in 2005, a 138.7%

increase over aircraft fuel of

$62.5 million in 2004. This

increase was primarily a

result of higher fuel costs,

higher fuel consumption, and

the consolidation of $38.4

million in AeroRepública’s

aircraft fuel expenses.

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits totaled

$69.7 million in 2005, a

34.9% increase over salaries

and benefits of $51.7 million

in 2004. This increase was

primarily a result of an overall

increase in headcount and the

consolidation of $11.0 million

in AeroRepública salaries and

benefits expenses.

Passenger servicing

Passenger servicing totaled

$50.6 million in 2005, a 29.1%

increase over passenger

servicing of $39.2 million in

2004. This increase was

primarily a result of an increase

in Copa’s capacity, an increase

in Copa’s on-board passengers,

and the consolidation of $5.5

million in AeroRepública

passenger servicing expenses.

Commissions

Commissions totaled $45.1

million in 2005, a 55.1%

increase over commissions of

$29.1 million in 2004. This

increase was primarily a result

of higher passenger revenue

and the consolidation of $9.5

million in AeroRepública

commission expenses.
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Aircraft fuel

Aircraft fuel totaled $110.9

million in 2005, a 77.3%

increase over aircraft fuel of

$62.5 million in 2004. This

increase was primarily a

result of a 54.0% increase in

the average price per gallon

of jet fuel ($1.84 in 2005

compared to $1.19 in 2004

and the consumption of

15.9% more fuel due to a

10.8% increase in departures

and an increase in average

stage length). These

increases were partially offset

by our newer, more fuel-

efficient aircraft. Aircraft fuel

per available seat mile

increased by approximately

46.3% due to the increase in

average fuel cost per gallon.

Salaries and benefits

Salaries and benefits totaled

$58.8 million in 2005, a

13.7% increase over salaries

and benefits of $51.7 million

in 2004. This increase was

primarily a result of an

overall increase of 12.5% in

headcount at period end in

2005 versus the same period

end in 2004, mainly to cover

increased operations.

Salaries and benefits per

available seat mile

decreased by 6.2%.

Passenger servicing

Passenger servicing totaled

$45.2 million in 2005, a

15.2% increase over

passenger servicing of $39.2

million in 2004. This increase

was primarily a result of

Copa’s 21.2% increase in

capacity and an increase of

20.2% in on-board

passengers. Passenger

servicing per available seat

mile decreased by 4.9% as a

result of fixed costs being

spread over a higher number

of available seat miles.

Commissions

Commissions totaled $35.6

million in 2005, a 22.3%

increase over commissions of

$29.1 million in 2004. This

increase was primarily a result

of higher passenger revenue.

Commissions per available

seat mile increased by 1.0%.

Reservations and sales

Reservations and sales

totaled $25.3 million in 2005,

a 14.4% increase over

reservations and sales of

$22.1 million in 2004. This

increase was primarily a result

of a 31.3% increase in

charges related to global

distribution systems resulting

from a 20.1% increase in on-

board passengers and a 9.5%

increase in average rates.

Reservations and sales

expenses per available seat

mile decreased by 5.6%.

Maintenance, materials

and repairs

Maintenance, materials and

repairs totaled $21.3 million

in 2005, a 8.1% increase

over maintenance, materials

and repairs of $19.7 million

in 2004. This decrease was

a result of lower overhaul

related costs and lower

average maintenance costs

due to the replacement of

the older Boeing 737-200s.

Maintenance, materials and

repair per available seat mile

decreased by 10.8%

primarily as a result of the

lower cost associated with

the newer Boeing 737-Next

Generation fleet.

Depreciation

Depreciation totaled $19.2

million in 2005, a negligible

decrease over depreciation

of $19.3 million in 2004, as

the higher depreciation

attributable to our

acquisition of two new

Embraer 190 aircraft in 2005

was partially offset by lower

depreciation expenses

related to non-aircraft

related assets. Depreciation

per available seat mile

decreased by 17.6%.

Aircraft rentals

Aircraft rentals totaled $22.1

million in 2005, a 53.0%

increase over aircraft rentals

of $14.4 million in 2004.

This increase was a result of

three additional leased

Boeing 737-Next Generation

aircraft in December 2004,

February 2005 and May

2005. Aircraft rentals per

available seat mile increased

by 26.2% as a result of the

higher average lease rate of

the three aircraft received.

Flight operations and

landing fees and other

rentals

Combined, flight operations

and landing fees and other

rentals increased from $30.1

million in 2004 to $36.8

million in 2005, primarily as a

result of Copa’s 21.2%

increase in capacity.

Other

Other expenses totaled $27.5

million in 2005, a 6.0%

decrease over other

expenses of $29.3 million in

2004. This increase was

primarily a result of a 17.0%

increase in OnePass frequent

flyer miles earned by

customers during the period,

as well as other miscellaneous

administrative expenses such

as software licenses and

legal expenses. Other

expenses per available seat

mile decreased by 22.4% as

result of administrative

expenses growing slower

than capacity.

AEROREPÚBLICA SEGMENT OPERATING EXPENSES

Since April 22, 2005, the date on which we began consolidating AeroRepública’s results, AeroRepública

generated operating expenses of $96.8 million.

NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)

Our consolidated non-operating expenses totaled $16.6 million in 2005, a 106.0% increase over non-

operating expenses of $8.0 million in 2004 that was primarily attributable to the consolidation of $3.3 million

in non-operating expenses from our AeroRepública segment and higher expenses related to our initial public

offering in 2005.

COPA SEGMENT NON-OPERATING INCOME (EXPENSE)

Non-operating expense totaled $13.2 million in 2005, a 64.5% increase over non-operating expense of $8.0

million in 2004, attributable primarily to higher interest expense partially offset by higher interest income and

lower other non-operating income.

Interest expense

Interest expense totaled

$19.4 million in 2005, a

17.8% increase over interest

expense of $16.5 million in

2004, primarily resulting from

higher interest rates. The

average effective interest

rates on our debt also

increased by 29 basis points

from 4.21% during 2004 to

4.50% during 2005. At

period’s end, approximately

65% of our outstanding debt

was fixed at an average

effective rate of 4.46%.

Interest capitalized

Interest capitalized totaled

$1.1 million in 2005, a 13.1%

increase over interest

capitalized of $1.0 million in

2004, resulting from higher

average interest rates on debt

relating to pre-delivery

payments on aircraft.

Interest income

Interest income totaled $3.4

million in 2005, a 137.2%

increase over interest

income of $1.4 million in

2004. This increase was

mainly a result of our higher

average cash balance over

the year and higher interest

rates during the period.

Other, net

Other, net income totaled $1.7

million in 2005, a 71.4%

decrease over other, net

income of $6.1 million in

2004. This decrease was

primarily the result of

approximately $3.7 million in

expenses related to our initial

public offering in 2005.

COPA SEGMENT OPERATING EXPENSES
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND SHAREHOLDERS COPA HOLDINGS, S. A.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Copa Holdings, S. A. and its subsidiaries (“the Company”) as of

December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three

years in the period ended December 31, 2005. These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s

management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those

standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of

material misstatement.  We were not engaged to perform an audit of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.  Our audits

included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the

circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial

reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and

disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and

evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial

position of the Company and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2005 and 2004, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

Panama City, Republic of Panama

April 28, 2006
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As of December 31,

ASSETS 2005 2004

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 94,106 $ 99,666 

Short-term investments 20,384 11,277 

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments 114,490 110,943 

Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of

$4,911 and $2,622 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively 49,044 27,706 

Accounts receivable from related parties 448 -   

Expendable parts and supplies, net of allowance for obsolescence of

$9 and $1,739 as of December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively 4,070 2,333 

Prepaid expenses 13,502 8,403 

Other current assets 3,239 2,702 

Total Current Assets 184,793 152,087 

Long-term investments 26,175 3,948 

Property and Equipment:

Owned property and equipment:

Flight equipment 628,876 593,825 

Other 35,899 27,233 

664,775 621,058 

Less: Accumulated depreciation (79,985) (87,037)

584,790 534,021 

Purchase deposits for flight equipment 52,753 7,190 

Total Property and Equipment 637,543 541,211 

Other Assets:

Prepaid pension asset 1,261 1,153 

Goodwill 20,512 -   

Other intangible asset 31,298 -   

Other assets, net 15,330 3,651 

Total Other Assets 68,401 4,804 

Total Assets $ 916,912 $ 702,050 

As of December 31,

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 2005 2004

Current Liabilities:

Current maturities of long-term debt $ 67,905 $ 30,573 

Accounts payable 44,848 25,335 

Accounts payable to related parties 7,750 3,733 

Air traffic liability 85,673 53,423 

Taxes and interest payable 27,450 16,269 

Accrued expenses payable 14,780 12,848 

Other current liabilities 5,573 830 

Total Current Liabilities 253,979 143,011 

Non-Current Liabilities:

Long-term debt 402,954 380,827 

Post employment benefits liability 1,283 1,158 

Other long-term liabilities 8,790 1,310 

Deferred tax liabilities 4,039 1,589 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 417,066 384,884 

Total Liabilities 671,045 527,895 

Shareholders' Equity:

Class A common stock - 30,034,375 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding 19,813 19,813 

Class B common stock - 12,778,125 shares authorized, issued, and outstanding 9,410 9,410 

Retained earnings 217,862 144,932 

Accumulated other comprehensive income (1,218) -   

Total Shareholders' Equity 245,867 174,155 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity $ 916,912 $ 702,050 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)
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Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Operating Revenue:

Passenger revenue $ 565,131 $ 364,611 $ 311,683 

Cargo, mail and other 43,443 35,226 30,106 

608,574 399,837 341,789 

Operating Expenses:

Aircraft fuel 149,303 62,549 48,512 

Salaries and benefits 69,730 51,701 45,254 

Passenger servicing 50,622 39,222 36,879 

Commissions 45,087 29,073 27,681 

Maintenance, material and repairs 32,505 19,742 20,354 

Reservations and sales 29,213 22,118 18,011 

Aircraft rentals 27,631 14,445 16,686 

Flight operations 24,943 17,904 15,976 

Depreciation 19,857 19,279 14,040 

Landing fees and other rentals 17,909 12,155 10,551 

Other 32,622 29,306 25,977 

Fleet impairment charges -   -   3,572 

499,422 317,494 283,493 

Operating Income 109,152 82,343 58,296 

Non-operating Income (Expense):

Interest expense (21,629) (16,488) (11,613)

Interest capitalized 1,089 963 2,009 

Interest income 3,584 1,423 887 

Other, net 395 6,063 2,554 

(16,561) (8,039) (6,163)

Income before Income Taxes 92,591 74,304 52,133 

Provision for Income Taxes 9,592 5,732 3,644 

Net Income $ 82,999 $ 68,572 $ 48,489 

Earnings per share:

Basic and diluted $ 1.94 $ 1.60 $ 1.13 

Shares used for computation 42,812,500 42,812,500 42,812,500 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

Common Stock (Non-par value) Issued Capital

Accumulated
Other 

Retained Comprehensive 
Class A Class B Class A Class B Earnings Loss Total

At December 31, 2002 30,034,375 12,778,125 $19,813 $9,410 $37,871 $67,094 

Net Income -   -   48,489 48,489 

At December 31, 2003 30,034,375 12,778,125 19,813 9,410 86,360 -   115,583 

Net Income -   -   68,572 68,572 

Dividends declared -   -   (10,000) (10,000)

At December 31, 2004 30,034,375 12,778,125 19,813 9,410 144,932 -   174,155 

Net Income -   -   82,999 -   82,999 

Other comprehensive loss:

Foreign currency translation -   -   - (1,218) (1,218)

Total comprehensive income 81,781 

Dividends Declared -   -   (10,069) -   (10,069)

At December 31, 2005 30,034,375 12,778,125 $19,813 $9,410 $217,862 $(1,218) $245,867

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(In US$ thousands, except share and per share data)
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Copa Holdings, S. A. (“the Company”) is a leading Latin American

provider of international airline passenger and cargo services. The

Company was incorporated according to the laws of the Republic of

Panama.    The Company owns 99.8% of the shares of Compañía

Panameña de Aviación, S. A. (“Copa”), 100% of the shares of Oval

Financial Leasing, Ltd. (“OVAL”), OPAC, S. A. (“OPAC”), and 99.7% of

the shares of AeroRepública, S.A. (“AeroRepública”).

Copa, the Company’s core operation, is incorporated according to

the laws of the Republic of Panama and provides international air

transportation for passengers, cargo and mail.  Copa operates from

its Panama City hub in the Republic of Panama, from where it

offers approximately 92 daily scheduled flights among 30

destinations in 20 countries in North, Central and South America

and the Caribbean.  Additionally, Copa provides passengers with

access to flights to more than 120 other international destinations

through codeshare agreements with Continental Airlines, Inc.

(“Continental”) and other airlines. The Company has a broad

commercial alliance with Continental which includes joint marketing,

code-sharing arrangements, participation in Continental’s OnePass

frequent flyer loyalty program and access to Continental’s VIP

lounge program, President’s Club, along with other benefits such as

improved purchasing power in negotiations with service providers,

aircraft vendors and insurers. As of December 31, 2005, Copa

operated a fleet of 24 aircraft with an average age of 3.2 years;

consisting of 22 modern Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft and

two (2) Embraer 190 aircraft. OVAL is incorporated according to the

laws of the British Virgin Islands, and controls the special-purpose

vehicles that have a beneficial interest in 17 aircraft, with a carrying

value of $531 million, all of which are leased to Copa. The aircraft

are pledged as collateral for the obligation of the special-purpose

vehicles, which are all consolidated by the Company for financial

reporting purposes; however, the creditors of the special-purpose

vehicles have no recourse to the general credit of the Company or

Copa. OPAC is incorporated according to the laws of the Republic

of Panama, and owns the old corporate headquarters building

located in Panama City.  

Additionally, during 2005 the Company purchased 99.7% of

AeroRepública, a domestic Colombian air carrier, which is incorporated

according to the laws of the Republic of Colombia and operates a fleet

of eleven leased MD-80s and two owned DC-9s as of December 31,

2005 (See Note 2).  

On December 15, 2005, the Company concluded the initial public listing

on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and its principal

shareholders sold 18,112,500 shares of Class A common stock held by

them.  Cost related to this initial public listing amounted $3.7 million

which are included as a component of “Other, net” within Non-operating

income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

A substantial portion of the Company’s assets are located in the

Republic of Panama, a significant proportion of the Company’s

customers are Panamanian, and substantially all of the Company’s

flights operate through its hub at Tocumen International Airport in

Panama City.  As a result, the Company depends on economic and

political conditions prevailing from time to time in Panama. 

As used in these Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, the

terms “the Company”, “we”, “us”, “our” and similar terms refer to Copa

Holdings, S.A. and, unless the context indicates otherwise, its

consolidated subsidiaries.

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation

These consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance

with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles for financial

reporting using the U.S. Dollar as the reporting currency.  

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of the

Company and its subsidiaries.  The financial statements of

subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the

parent company, using consistent accounting policies.  Subsidiaries

are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to

the Company and cease to be consolidated from the date on which

control is transferred from the Company.  All intercompany

accounts, transactions and profits arising from consolidated entities

have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires

management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the

amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and

accompanying notes.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at banks, short-term time

deposits, asset-backed commercial paper and securities, and U.S.

agency securities with original maturities of three months or less

when purchased. 

Corporate Information

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003

Year Ended December 31,

2005 2004 2003

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income $ 82,999 $ 68,572 $ 48,489 

Adjustments for:

Deferred income taxes (885) (519) 447 

Depreciation 19,857 19,279 14,040 

(Gain) / Loss on sale of property and equipment (1,340) (1,125) -   

Fleet impairment charge -   -   3,572 

Provision for doubtful accounts 812 1,026 2,154 

Provision for obsolescence of expendable parts and supplies 3 6 938 

Derivative instruments mark to market (165) 945 (207)

Changes in:

Accounts receivable (11,252) 2,287 (9,167)

Accounts receivable from related parties (448) -   -   

Other current assets 278 (3,317) (2,130)

Other assets (9,321) (1,430) (402)

Accounts payable (4,330) 25 295 

Accounts payable to related parties 4,017 1,089 1,063 

Air traffic liability 27,759 6,200 8,809 

Other liabilities 11,105 5,013 5,578 

Net cash provided by operating activities 119,089 98,051 73,479 

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition of investments (48,294) (38,082) -   

Proceed from redemption of investments 20,658 30,639 19 

Restricted cash (3,698) 582 82 

Advance payments on aircraft purchase contracts (49,461) (16,314) (41,232)

Acquisition of property and equipment (63,296) (65,764) (112,181)

Disposal of property and equipment 2,803 3,201 1,510 

Purchase of AeroRepublica, net of acquired cash (22,282) -   -   

Net cash flows used in investing activities (163,570) (85,738) (151,802)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from loans and borrowings 68,416 101,198 140,732 

Payments on loans and borrowings (46,929)   (32,125) (21,969)

Issuance of bonds 27,503 6,357 21,736 

Redemption of bonds -   (35,675) (35,201)

Dividends declared and paid (10,069) (10,000) -   

Net cash flows provided by financing activities 38,921 29,755 105,298 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents (5,560) 42,068 26,975 

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1st 99,666 57,598 30,623 

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31 $94,106 $99,666 $57,598 

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information

Interest paid, net of amount capitalized $21,126 $16,021 $10,449 

Income taxes paid 7,411 4,286 2,400 

The accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements are an integral part of these statements.

COPA HOLDINGS, S.A. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In US$ thousands)
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Investments

The Company invests in short-term time deposits, asset-backed

commercial paper and securities, and U.S. government agency

securities with original maturities of more than three months but less

than one year.  Additionally, the Company invests in long-term time

deposits and U.S. government agency securities with maturities greater

than 365 days.   These investments are classified as short-term and

long-term investments respectively, in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets.  All of these investments are classified as held-to-

maturity securities, and are stated at their amortized cost, since the

Company has determined that it has the intent and ability to hold the

securities to maturity. Restricted cash is classified within long-term

investments, and are primarily held as collateral for letters of credit.

Expendable Parts and Supplies

Expendable parts and supplies for flight equipment are carried at

average acquisition cost and are expensed when used in operations.

An allowance for obsolescence is provided over the remaining

estimated useful life of the related aircraft, plus an allowance for

expendable parts currently identified as excess to reduce the carrying

cost to net realizable value.  These allowances are based on

management estimates, which are subject to change.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are depreciated to

estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives using the

straight-line method. Jet aircraft, jet engines and aircraft rotables are

assumed to have an estimated residual value of 15% of original cost;

other categories of property and equipment are assumed to have no

residual value. The estimated useful lives for property and equipment

are as follows:

Years

Building  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .40

Jet aircraft . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .25 to 30

Jet engines  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .10 to 30

Ground property and equipment  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .10

Furniture, fixture, equipment and others  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .5 to 10

Software rights and licenses  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .3 to 8

Aircraft rotables  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .7 to 30

Leasehold improvements . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .Lesser of remaining

lease term or useful life

Measurement of Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company records impairment losses on long-lived assets used in

operations, consisting principally of property and equipment, when events

or changes in circumstances indicate, in management’s judgment, that

the assets might be impaired and the undiscounted cash flows estimated

to be generated by those assets are less than the carrying amount of

those assets. Cash flow estimates are based on historical results

adjusted to reflect the Company’s best estimate of future market and

operating conditions. The net carrying value of assets not recoverable is

reduced to fair value if lower than carrying value. Estimates of fair value

represent the Company’s best estimate based on industry trends and

reference to market rates and transactions and are subject to change.

Revenue Recognition

Passenger Revenue

Passenger revenue is recognized when transportation is provided

rather than when a ticket is sold.  The amount of passenger ticket sales

not yet recognized as revenue is reflected as “Air traffic liability” in the

Consolidated Balance Sheets.  Tickets whose fares have expired

and/or are one year old are recognized as passenger revenue. A

significant portion of the Company’s ticket sales are processed through

major credit card companies, resulting in accounts receivable which are

generally short-term in duration and typically collected prior to when

revenue is recognized. The Company believes that the credit risk

associated with these receivables is minimal.

Cargo and Mail Services Revenue

Cargo and mail services revenue are recognized when the

Company provides the shipping services and thereby completes

the earning process.

Other Revenue

Other revenue is primarily comprised of excess baggage charges,

commissions earned on tickets sold for flights on other airlines and charter

flights, and is recognized when transportation or service is provided. 

Frequent Flyer Program

The Company participates in Continental’s “OnePass” frequent flyer

program, for which the Company’s passengers receive all the benefits

and privileges offered by the OnePass program.  Continental is

responsible for the administration of the OnePass program. Under the

terms of the Company’s frequent flyer agreement with Continental,

OnePass members receive OnePass frequent flyer mileage credits for

travel on Copa and the Company pays Continental a per mile rate for

each mileage credit granted by Continental, at which point the

Company has no further obligation. The amounts due to Continental

under this agreement are expensed by the Company as the mileage

credits are earned. 

Passenger Traffic Commissions

Passenger traffic commissions are recognized as expense when the

transportation is provided and the related revenue is recognized.

Passenger traffic commissions paid but not yet recognized as expense

are included in “Prepaid expenses” in the accompanying Consolidated

Balance Sheets.

Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation

The Company’s functional currency is the U.S. Dollar, the legal tender

in Panama. Assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at

end-of-period exchange rates, except for non-monetary assets, which

are translated at equivalent U.S. dollar costs at dates of acquisition and

maintained at historical rate. Operations are translated at average

exchange rates in effect during the period. Foreign exchange gains and

losses are included as a component of “Other, net” within Non-

operating income (expense) in the Consolidated Statements of Income.

The financial statements of AeroRepública are measured using the

Colombian Peso as the functional currency; adjustments to translate those

statements into U.S. Dollars are recorded in other comprehensive income.

In 2005, approximately 72% of the Company’s expenses and 42% of

the Company’s revenues were denominated in U.S. Dollars.  The

remainder of the Company’s expenses and revenues were

denominated in the currencies of the various countries to which the

Company flies, with the largest non-dollar amount denominated in

Colombian pesos.  The Company currently does not hedge the risk of

fluctuations in foreign exchange rates; generally, its exposure to foreign

currencies is limited to a period of up to two weeks, from the time a

sale is completed to the time funds are repatriated into U.S. Dollars.

Maintenance and Repair Costs

Maintenance and repair costs for owned and leased flight equipment,

including the overhaul of aircraft components, are charged to operating

expenses as incurred. Engine overhaul costs covered by power-by-the-

hour arrangements are paid and expensed as incurred, on the basis of

hours flown per the contract. Maintenance reserves paid to aircraft

lessors in advance of the performance of major maintenance activities

are recorded as prepaid maintenance within Other Assets and then

recognized as maintenance expense when the underlying maintenance

is performed. 

Employee Profit Sharing

The Company sponsors a profit-sharing program for both management

and non-management personnel.  For members of management, profit-

sharing is based on a combination of the Company’s performance as a

whole and the achievement of individual goals.  Profit-sharing for non-

management employees is based solely on the Company’s

performance.  The Company accrues each month for the expected

profit-sharing, which is paid annually in February.  Amounts accrued for

the Company’s profit-sharing program as of December 31, 2005 and

2004 were $5.8 million and $5.5 million, respectively.

Advertising Costs

Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. The Company

recognized as advertising expense $3.7 million, $2.8 million, and $3.4

million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Income Taxes 

Deferred income taxes are provided under the liability method and

reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax

basis of assets and liabilities and their reported amounts in the

financial statements. 

Goodwill and Intangibles

The Company performs impairment testing, in accordance with

SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets”, of goodwill

separately from impairment testing of indefinite-lived intangibles.

The Company test goodwill for impairment, at least annually on

December 31, by reviewing the book value compared to the fair

value at the reporting segment level and tests individually indefinite-

lived intangibles, at least annually, by reviewing the individual book

values compared to the fair value.  Considerable management

judgment is necessary to evaluate the impact of operating and

macroeconomic changes and to estimate future cash flows to

measure fair value.  Assumptions used in the Company’s impairment

evaluations are consistent with internal projections and operating

plans.  We did not recognize any material impairment charges for

goodwill or intangibles assets during the years presented.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made in the prior years’

consolidated financial statements amounts and related note disclosures

to conform with the current year’s presentation.

2. Acquisition of AeroRepública

On April 22, 2005, the Company acquired a controlling ownership

interest in AeroRepública, a Colombian domestic airline. According

to the Colombian Civil Aviation Administration, Unidad Especial

Administrativa de Aeronáutica Civil, in 2005 AeroRepública was the

second-largest domestic carrier in Colombia in terms of number of

passengers carried, providing service to 11 cities in Colombia with

a point-to-point route network.  As of the acquisition date

AeroRepública operated a fleet of seven (7) leased MD-80s and

two (2) owned DC-9s.  The acquisition of AeroRepública represents

an attractive opportunity to increase the Company’s access and

visibility to Colombia, one of the largest airline passenger markets

in Latin America with more than 45 million inhabitants, and to

improve AeroRepública’s operational and financial performance.

Colombia shares a border with Panama, and for historic, cultural

and business reasons it represents a significant market for many

Panamanian businesses. Management believes that operational

coordination with AeroRepública may create additional passenger

traffic in the Company’s existing route network by providing

Colombian passengers more convenient access to the international

destinations served through the Company’s Panama hub.  

The results of AeroRepública’s operations have been included in

the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements beginning April

22, 2005, the date the Company acquired an initial 85.56% equity

ownership interest in AeroRepública and gained control of

AeroRepública. The initial acquisition was followed by subsequent

acquisitions increasing the total equity ownership interest in

AeroRepública to 99.7% as of December 31, 2005.  The total

purchase price paid through December 31, 2005 of $23.4 million,

including acquisition costs, was negotiated individually with each of

the respective selling parties and, largely due to the factors

described above, resulted in the recognition of goodwill.  The

Company funded these acquisitions with a combination of existing

cash and short-term investments.  

Under the purchase method of accounting, the total purchase price is

allocated to the net tangible and intangible assets of AeroRepública

based on their fair values as of the dates of acquisition.  Independent

valuation specialists conducted an independent valuation in order to

assist management in determining the fair values of a significant portion

of these assets. The work performed by the independent valuation

specialists has been considered in management’s estimates of the fair

values reflected in the Consolidated Financial Statements. This final

valuation was based on the actual net tangible and intangible assets of

AeroRepública that existed as of the date of acquisition.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s estimates of the fair

value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of

acquisition (in millions).

Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $     1.1

Accounts receivable 10.7

Prepaid expenses 2.6

Other current assets 4.7

Property, plant & equipment 4.8

Goodwill 20.1

Intangibles 30.6

Other non-current assets 4.1

Total assets acquired $    78.7

Liabilities:

Accounts payable $    23.3

Air traffic liability 4.4

Accrued liabilities 7.6

Debt 10.2

Deferred tax liability 3.3

Other liabilities 6.5

Total liabilities assumed $    55.3

Net assets acquired $    23.4

Of the total estimated purchase price, approximately $50.7 million has

been allocated to goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives.

Goodwill, approximately $20.1 million, represents the excess of the

purchase price of the acquired business over the fair value of the

underlying net tangible and intangible assets and is recorded in the

AeroRepública segment.  Intangible assets with indefinite lives consist

primarily of the fair value allocated to the routes and the AeroRepública

trade name, valued at $25.7 million and $4.9 million, respectively. 

AeroRepública’s domestic route network within Colombia was determined

to have an indefinite useful life as the access to each domestic city is

limited to a set number of airline carriers in addition to requiring the

necessary permits to operate within Colombia. The permit to fly into each

city does not have a set expiration date. The AeroRepública trade name

was determined to have an indefinite useful life due to several factors

and considerations, including the brand awareness and market position,

customer recognition and loyalty and the continued use of the

AeroRepública brand. In the event that the Company determines that the

value of goodwill or intangible assets with indefinite lives has become

impaired, the Company will incur an accounting charge for the amount of

impairment during the period in which the determination is made.  

During December 2005 and April 2006, the Company invested an

additional $8.0 million and $2.0 million in AeroRepública, respectively,

in exchange for 4.7 million and 1.2 million new shares of

AeroRepública, respectively. As a result of these transactions the

Company’s total investment increased to $33.4 million.  

The following table presents pro forma financial information as if the

acquisition had occurred as of the beginning of each period presented.

The pro forma financial information is not intended to represent or be

indicative of the combined results which would have occurred had the

transaction actually been consummated on the date indicated above and

should not be taken as representative of the consolidated results of

operations which may occur in the future (in millions except share data).  

(Unaudited)

Pro forma Year ended December 31,

2005 2004

Total Revenue $646.3 $513.0

Operating Income 106.3 90.8

Income before income taxes 92.4 78.5

Net income $ 83.0 $ 70.3

Net income per share:

Basic and diluted $1.94 $1.64

3. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, long-term debt consisted of the following (in millions):

2005 2004

Long-term fixed rate debt $292.5 $318.7

(Secured fixed rate indebtedness due through 2017. 

Effective rates ranged from 3.98% to 8.96%)

Long-term variable rate debt.

(Secured variable rate indebtedness due through 2017. 150.9 92.7

Effective rates ranged from 4.15% to 19.35%)

Private bond issuances 27.5 -

(Unsecured variable rate indebtedness due in 2006

Weighted average rate of 7.22%, as of December 31, 2005)

Sub-total 470.9 411.4

Less current maturities 67.9 30.6

Long-term debt less current maturities $403.0 $380.8

Maturities of long-term debt for the next five years are as follows

(in millions):

Year ending December 31,

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$67.9

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$35.9

2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$35.4

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$33.6

2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$31.9

Thereafter  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$266.2

As of December 31, 2005 and 2004, the Company had $337.1 million

and $368.1 million of outstanding indebtedness, respectively, that is

owed to financial institutions under financing arrangements guaranteed

by the Export-Import Bank of the United States.  The Export-Import

Bank guarantees support 85% of the net purchase price of the aircraft

and are secured with a first priority mortgage on the aircraft in favor of

a security trustee on behalf of Export-Import Bank.

The Company’s Export-Import Bank supported financings are amortized

on a quarterly basis, are denominated in dollars and originally bear

interest at a floating rate linked to LIBOR.  The Export-Import Bank

guaranteed facilities typically offer an option to fix the applicable interest

rate. The Company has exercised this option with respect to $292.5

million as of December 31, 2005.

The Company effectively extends the maturity of its aircraft financing to

15 years through the use of a “Stretched Overall Amortization and

Repayment,” or SOAR, structure which provides serial draw-downs

calculated to result in a 100% loan accreting to a recourse balloon at

the maturity of the Export-Import Bank guaranteed loan which totaled

$23.0 million as of December 31, 2005.  

The Company also typically finances portion of the purchase price of

the Boeing aircraft through commercial loans which totaled $20.6

million as of December 31, 2005.

During 2005, the Company secured a senior term loan facility in the

amount of $134 million with PK AirFinance US, Inc., an affiliate of

General Electric, for the purchase of six (6) Embraer 190 aircraft. The

loans have a term of twelve years.  During 2005, the Company utilized

$43.8 million of this facility upon the delivery of two Embraer 190

aircraft, the remainder of the facility will be drawn during 2006.

During 2005, the Company issued private bonds in the amount of $27.5

million to fund advance delivery payments of two (2) Boeing 737-700

aircraft having delivery months of May and June 2006. The Company

has granted, for the benefit of the bondholders, a first priority security

interest in the rights, title and interest over the two (2) Boeing 737-700

aircraft. Interest on the bonds is paid on March 31, June 30, September

30, and December 31 with the balance of the bonds to be repaid upon

delivery of the aircraft for which the advance payments related. 

See description of AeroRepública’s debt in Note 12.

Assets, primarily aircraft, subject to agreements securing the

Company’s indebtedness amounted to $536.1 million and $508.4

million as of December 31, 2005 and 2004 respectively.

4. Investments

The Company invests in time deposits, asset-backed commercial paper

and securities, and U.S. government agency securities.  These

investments are classified within short-term and long-term investments

in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Investments are

classified as held-to-maturity securities since the Company has the

intent and the ability to hold them until maturity. These investments are

stated at their amortized cost which is essentially the same as their fair

value. Long-term investments mature within three (3) years. Restricted

cash classified within long-term investments, held in time deposits,

amounted to $7.7 million and $3.9 million as of December 31, 2005 and

2004, respectively.

5. Leases

The Company leases certain aircraft and other assets under long-term

lease arrangements.  Other leased assets include real property, airport

and terminal facilities, sales offices, maintenance facilities, training

centers and general offices.  Most contract leases include renewal

options. Non-aircraft related leases, primarily held with local

governments, generally have renewable terms of one year.  In certain

cases, the rental payments during the renewal periods would be greater

than the current payments.  Because the lease renewals are not

considered to be reasonably assured, as defined in SFAS No. 13,

“Accounting for Leases”, the rental payments that would be due during

the renewal periods are not included in the determination of rent

expense until the leases are renewed. Leasehold improvements are

amortized over the contractually committed lease term, which does not

include the renewal periods. The Company’s leases do not include

residual value guarantees.

At December 31, 2005, the scheduled future minimum lease payments

under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable

lease terms in excess of one year are as follows (in millions):

Operating Leases

Aircraft Non-Aircraft

Year ending December 31,

2006 $33.4 $3.6

2007 31.9 2.7

2008 28.8 2.4

2009 22.5 2.4

2010 12.6 2.3

Later years 14.3 7.8

Total minimum lease payments $143.5 $21.2

Total rent expense was $35.4 million, $20.0 million and $21.6 million for

the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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6. Financial Instruments and Risk Management

Fuel Price Risk Management

The Company periodically enters into crude oil call options, jet fuel zero

cost collars, and jet fuel swap contracts to provide for short to mid-term

hedge protection (generally three to eighteen months) against sudden

and significant increases in jet fuel prices, while simultaneously ensuring

that the Company is not competitively disadvantaged in the event of a

substantial decrease in the price of jet fuel. The Company does not hold

or issue derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. 

The Company’s derivatives have historically not qualified as hedges for

financial reporting purposes in accordance with SFAS No. 133,

“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities”.

Accordingly, changes in the fair value of such derivative contracts,

which amounted to $0.2 million, ($0.9) million and $0.2 million in years

2005, 2004 and 2003 respectively, were recorded as a component of

“Other, net” within Non-operating income (expense). The fair value of

hedge contracts amounted to $0.3 million and $0.2 million at December

31, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and was recorded in “Other current

assets” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets. The Company’s purchases

of jet fuel are made substantially from one supplier.

As of December 31, 2005, the Company held derivative instruments on

10% of its projected 2006 fuel consumption, as compared with

derivatives held on 12% of actual fuel consumed in 2005. 

Debt

The fair value of the Company’s debt with a carrying value of

$470.9 million and $411.4 million as of December 31, 2005 and

2004, respectively, was approximately $469.0 million and $438.5

million. These estimates were based on the discounted amount of

future cash flows using the Company’s current incremental rate of

borrowing for a similar liability.

Other Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash,

accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair value due

to their short-term nature.

7. Issued Capital and Corporate Reorganization

On November 23, 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a

reorganization of the Company’s capital stock. Following the

reorganization, the Company’s authorized capital stock consists of 80

million shares of common stock without par value, divided into Class A

shares, Class B shares and Class C shares.  Immediately following the

reorganization, there were 30,034,375 Class A shares outstanding,

12,778,125 Class B shares outstanding, all owned by CIASA (a

Panamanian entity), and no Class C shares outstanding. The

reorganization did not impact the operations or financial condition of the

Company in any respect and, as such, does not result in a new basis of

accounting. All share and per share information for all periods

presented have been restated to give retroactive effect to the

reorganization. Class A and Class B shares have the same economic

rights and privileges, including the right to receive dividends, except

that the holders of the Class A shares are not entitled to vote at the

Company’s shareholders’ meetings, except in connection with a

transformation of the Company into another corporate type; a merger,

consolidation or spin-off of the Company; a change of corporate

purpose; voluntarily delisting Class A shares from the NYSE; approving

the nomination of independent directors nominated by the Company’s

Board of Director’s Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee;

and any amendment to the foregoing special voting provisions

adversely affecting the rights and privileges of the Class A shares.

The Class A shareholders will acquire full voting rights, entitled to one

vote per Class A share on all matters upon which shareholders are

entitled to vote, if in the future the Company’s Class B shares ever

represent fewer than 10% of the total number of shares of the

Company’s common stock outstanding and the Independent Directors

Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Independent

Directors Committee”) shall have determined that such additional voting

rights of Class A shareholders would not cause a triggering event

referred to below.  In such event, the right of the Class A shareholders to

vote on the specific matters described in the preceding paragraph will no

longer be applicable.  At such time, if any, as the Class A shareholders

acquire full voting rights, the Board of Directors shall call an

extraordinary shareholders’ meeting to be held within 90 days following

the date as of which the Class A shares are entitled to vote on all

matters at the Company’s shareholders’ meetings.  At the extraordinary

shareholders’ meeting, the shareholders shall vote to elect all eleven

members of the Board of Directors in a slate recommended by the

Nominating and Governance Committee.  The terms of office of the

directors that were serving prior to the extraordinary shareholders’

meeting shall terminate upon the election held at that meeting.

Every holder of Class B shares is entitled to one vote per share on all

matters for which shareholders are entitled to vote.  Class B shares will

be automatically converted into Class A shares upon the registration of

transfer of such shares to holders which are not Panamanian.

The Class C shares will have no economic value and will not be

transferable, but will possess such voting rights as the Independent

Directors Committee shall deem necessary to ensure the effective

control of the Company by Panamanians.  The Class C shares will be

redeemable by the Company at such time as the Independent Directors

Committee determines that a triggering event, as discussed below, shall

no longer be in effect.  The Class C shares will not be entitled to any

dividends or any other economic rights.

The Panamanian Aviation Act, including the related decrees and

regulations, which regulates the aviation industry in the Republic of

Panama, requires that “substantial ownership’’ and “effective control’’ of

Copa remain in the hands of Panamanian nationals. Under certain of the

bilateral treaties between Panama and other countries pursuant to which

the Company has the right to fly to those other countries and over their

territory, the Company must continue to have substantial Panamanian

ownership and effective control to retain these rights. Neither “substantial

ownership’’ nor “effective control’’ are defined in the Panamanian Aviation

Act or in the bilateral treaties, and it is unclear how a Panamanian court

or, in the case of the bilateral treaties, foreign regulatory authorities might

interpret these requirements. On November 25, 2005, the Executive

Branch of the Government of Panama promulgated a decree stating that

the “substantial ownership’’ and “effective control’’ requirements of the

Panamanian Aviation Act are met if a Panamanian citizen or a

Panamanian company is the record holder of shares representing 51% or

more of the voting power of the Company. Although the decree has the

force of law for so long as it remains in effect, it does not supersede the

Panamanian Aviation Act, and it can be modified or superseded at any

time by a future Executive Branch decree. Additionally, the decree has no

binding effect on regulatory authorities of other countries whose bilateral

agreements impose Panamanian ownership and control limitations on the

Company. In the event that the Class B shareholders represent less than

10% of the total share capital of the Company (excluding newly issued

shares sold with the approval of the Independent Directors Committee)

and the Independent Directors Committee determines that it is

reasonably likely that the Company’s legal ability to engage in the

aviation business or to exercise its international route rights will be

revoked, suspended or materially inhibited in a manner which would

materially and adversely affect the Company, in each case as a result of

such non-Panamanian ownership (each a triggering event), the

Independent Directors Committee may authorize the issuance of

additional Class B shares to Panamanians at a price determined by the

Independent Directors to reflect the current market value of such shares

and/or authorize the issuance to Class B shareholders such number of

Class C shares as the Independent Directors Committee, or the Board of

Directors if applicable, deems necessary and with such other terms and

conditions established by the Independent Directors Committee that do

not confer economic rights on the Class C shares.

On December 15, 2005, the Company’s primary shareholders,

Continental and CIASA, concluded the initial public listing of the

Company on the NYSE and selling 18,112,500 shares of Class A

common stock at $20.00 per share previously held by these

shareholders.  Proceeds of $344.1 million, net of the commissions and

discounts of $18.1 million, were received directly by the selling

shareholders with no proceeds being received by the Company.

8. Income Taxes

The Company pays taxes in the Republic of Panama and in other

countries in which it operates, based on regulations in effect in each

respective country. The Company’s revenues come principally from

foreign operations and according to the Panamanian Fiscal Code these

foreign operations are not subject to income tax in Panama.

In the past, the Company’s expenses attributable to operations in

Panama have consistently exceeded the revenue attributable to

operations in Panama.  As a result, the Company typically experienced

losses for Panamanian income tax purposes and did not recognize any

Panamanian income tax obligations through the year ended December

31, 2003. Beginning in 2004, the Company adopted an alternate

method of calculating income tax in Panama. Under this alternative

method, based on Article 121 of the Panamanian Fiscal Code, income

for international transportation companies is calculated based on a

territoriality method that determines gross revenues earned in Panama

by applying the percentage of miles flown within the Panamanian

territory against total revenues.  Under this method, loss carry forwards

cannot be applied to offset tax liability. Dividends from the Company’s

Panamanian subsidiaries, including Copa Airlines, are separately

subject to a ten percent tax if such dividends can be shown to be

derived from income from sources in Panama.    

The Company is also subject to local tax regulations in each of the

jurisdictions where it operates, the great majority of which are related to

the taxation of income.  In some of the countries to which the Company

flies, the Company does not pay any income taxes because it does not

generate taxable income under the laws of those countries or because

of treaties or other arrangements those countries have with Panama.

In the remaining countries, the Company pays income tax at a rate

ranging from 25% to 35% of income. Different countries calculate

income in different ways, but they are typically derived from sales in the

applicable country multiplied by the Company’s net margin or by a

presumed net margin set by the relevant tax legislation. The

determination of the Company’s taxable income in several countries is

based on a combination of revenues sourced to each particular country

and the allocation of expenses of the Company’s operations to that

particular country. The methodology for multinational transportation

company sourcing of revenue and expense is not always specifically

prescribed in the relevant tax regulations, and therefore is subject to

interpretation by both the Company and the respective taxing

authorities. Additionally, in some countries, the applicability of certain

regulations governing non-income taxes and the determination of the

filing status of the Company are also subject to interpretation. The

Company cannot estimate the amount, if any, of the potential tax

liabilities that might result if the allocations, interpretations and filing

positions used by the Company in its income tax returns were

challenged by the taxing authorities of one or more countries.

Under a reciprocal exemption confirmed by a bilateral agreement

between Panama and the United States the Company is exempt from

the U.S. source transportation income tax derived from the international

operation of aircraft.

The provision for income taxes recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income was as follows:

2005 2004 2003

Panama

Current $0.8 $0.7 -

Deferred - - -

Foreign

Current 7.9 5.5 3.2

Deferred 0.9 (0.5) 0.4

Total

$9.6 $5.7 $3.6

The Company paid taxes of $7.4 million, $4.3 million and $2.4 million in years 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.
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Pretax income, based on the Copa Airlines’ internal route profitability

measures, related to Panamanian operations was $32.3 million, $25.5

million, and $23.5 million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively, and

related to foreign operations was $60.3 million, $48.8 million, and $28.6

million in 2005, 2004, and 2003, respectively.

AeroRepública’s benefit from operating loss carryforwards amounted to

$1.8 million as of December 31, 2005.  The benefit from operating loss

carryforwards are available for a period of seven (7) years from when

they were realized.  

Income tax returns for all companies incorporated in the Republic of

Panama are subject to review by tax authorities up to the last three (3)

years, including the year ended December 31, 2005 according to

current tax regulations.  For other countries where the Company

operates, it is subject to review by their respective tax authorities for

periods ranging from the last two (2) to six (6) years.

The amount of income tax expense incurred in Panama prior to 2004

varies from the Panamanian statutory rate because of the excess of

Panamanian source expenses over Panamanian source revenues, and,

beginning in 2004, the tax varies from the statutory rate because of the

Panamanian gross tax election.  Income taxes outside of Panama are

generally determined on the basis of net income or revenue, and all of

the countries have rates that vary from the Panamanian statutory rate.  

9. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company, in accordance with Panamanian labor laws, is required

to establish and fund both a severance fund and a termination

indemnity plan.

The Company contributes to the Severance Fund based on 1.92% of

applicable wages paid annually. Upon cessation of the labor

relationship, regardless of cause, the company is required to pay the

employee the amount accumulated up to the cessation of the labor

relationship. This plan is accounted for as a defined benefit pension

plan under SFAS No. 87, “Employers’ Accounting for Pensions”,

whereby pension benefit expense is recognized over the employees’

approximate service periods.

The Company contributes to the Termination Indemnity Plan based on

0.33% of total applicable wages paid annually. Upon cessation of the

labor relationship due to termination, the Company is required to pay

6.54% of applicable wages earned over the duration of the employment

period of the terminated employee. This plan is accounted for as a post-

employment benefit plan under SFAS No. 112, “Employers’ Accounting

for Postemployment Benefits”, whereby post-employment benefit

expense is recognized over the employees’ approximate service periods.  

In Panama, all employees are covered by one or more of these plans.

In Colombia, all employees hired before April 1, 1994 are covered by a

defined benefit pension plan. The benefits under these plans are based

on years of service and an employee’s accumulated compensation.

Pension obligations are measured as of December 31 of each year.

Panama Pension and Post Employment Plans

Pension Plan

The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension plan’s change

in projected benefit obligation (in millions) at December 31:

2005 2004

Accumulated benefit obligation $2.6 $2.2

Projected benefit obligation at beginning of year $2.5 $2.1

Service cost 0.3 0.3

Interest cost 0.1 0.1

Actuarial losses 0.2 0.2

Benefits paid (0.2) (0.2)

Projected benefit obligation at end of year $2.9 $2.5

The following table sets forth the defined benefit pension plan’s change

in the fair value of plan assets (in millions) at December 31:

2005 2004

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $2.9 $2.4

Actual return on plan assets 0.0 0.1

Employer contributions 0.7 0.6

Benefits paid (0.2) (0.2)

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $3.4 $2.9

Pension cost recognized in the accompanying Consolidated Balance

Sheets at December 31 is computed as follows (in millions):

2005 2004

Funded status of the plan - net over funded $0.5 $0.4

Unrecognized net actuarial loss 0.8 0.8  

Net asset recognized $1.3 $1.2

The following actuarial assumptions were used to determine the

actuarial present value of projected benefit obligation at December 31:

2005 2004

Weighted average assumed discount rate 5.50% 5.75%

Weighted average rate of compensation increase 3.25% 3.50%

Net periodic benefit expense for the years ended December 31

included the following components (in millions): 

2005 2004 2003

Service cost $0.3 $0.3 $0.2

Interest cost 0.1 0.1 0.1

Expected return on plan assets (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)

Net periodic benefit expense $0.3 $0.3 $0.2

The following actuarial assumptions were used to determine the net

periodic benefit expense for the year ended December 31:

2005 2004 2003

Weighted average assumed

discount rate 5.75% 6.25% 6.75%

Expected long-term rate

of return on plan assets 4.00% 4.00% 4.00%

Weighted average rate

of compensation increase 3.50% 4.00% 4.50%

The Company’s discount rate is determined based upon the review of

high quality corporate bond rates, the change in these rates during the

year, and year-end rate levels. 

The Company holds its Seniority Premium funds with Profuturo, a

Panamanian pension fund management company backed by various

banks and insurance companies.  The Seniority Premium is invested in

Proahorro, a conservative fund which invests in instruments such as

savings accounts (2.58%) and time deposits (97.4%), with return on

funds amounting to 4.4% in 2005. The expected return on plan assets

is based upon an evaluation of the Company’s historical trends and

experience taking into account current and expected market conditions.

The reconciliations of income tax computed at the Panamanian statutory tax rate to income tax expense for the years ended December 31 are as

follows (in millions):

Amount Percentage

2005 2004 2003 2005 2004 2003

Provision for income taxes at Panamanian  

statutory rates $27.8 $22.3 $15.6 30.0% 30.0% 30.0%

Panamanian gross tax election (8.9) (6.9) - (9.6%) (9.3%) -

Impact of excess of Panamanian source expenses

over Panamanian source revenues - - (7.0) - - (13.5%)

Difference in Panamanian statutory rates and

non-Panamanian statutory rates (9.3) (9.7) (5.0) (10.0%) (13.0%) (9.5%)

Provision for income taxes $ 9.6 $5.7 $3.6 10.4% 7.7% 7.0%

Deferred income taxes are provided under the liability method and reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the tax basis of assets

and liabilities and their reported amounts in the financial statements.  

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows (in millions):

2005   2004   

Deferred tax liabilities

Maintenance reserves $(1.5) $(1.5)

Pension obligation (0.1) (0.2)

Other assets (1.1) -

Others (1.3) -

Total deferred tax liabilities (4.0) (1.7)

Deferred tax assets

Post-employment benefit obligation 0.1 0.1

Allowance for doubtful receivables 0.8 -

Expendable parts and supplies 1.1 -

Prepaid expenses 0.5 -

Others 0.3 -

Total deferred tax assets 2.8 0.1

Net deferred tax liabilities $(1.2) $(1.6)

The Company’s deferred tax assets recognized in the Consolidated Balance Sheets, within other current assets, for AeroRepública segment was $2.7

million for 2005.
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Estimated future contribution and benefit payments, which reflect

expected future service, for the years ended December 31, are as

follows (in millions):

Future contribution payments:

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.6

Future benefit payments:

2006 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.5

2007 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.5

2008 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.5

2009 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.5

2010 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$0.4

Remaining five years . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .$2.1

Post-employment Benefit Plan

For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2004, and 2003, total

expense for the post-employment benefits was $0.4 million, $0.4

million, and $0.3 million, respectively.

Colombia Pension Plan

Pension Plan

Colombian labor laws require that employers establish pension plan for

its employees.  AeroRepública, based on this labor laws, had establish

two (2) defined benefit pension plans.  All employees hired before April

1, 1994 are covered by one of these defined benefit pension plans, the

future pension plan or the pension bond plan.  Additionally,

AeroRepública has a pension which is paid to widows. There are 9

members covered under these programs.  

The Company’s unfunded benefit obligation recognized, within other long

term liabilities, for these plans is $0.3 million at December 31, 2005.

10. Fleet Impairment Charges

In light of the impairment charge recorded in 2002, the downward

pressure realized on the value of Boeing 737-200’s thereafter, and the

ongoing distress in the industry, the Company re-evaluated the value of

its Boeing 737-200 aircraft, rotable and expendable parts in accordance

with SFAS No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of

Long-Lived Assets” in 2003. The Company determined that the

undiscounted future cash flows to be derived by the fleet were not

sufficient to recover the carrying value of the fleet and therefore an

impairment to their value existed. As a result, the Company recorded an

impairment charge in fiscal 2003 to write the aircraft down to their

estimated fair value.

The Company estimated the undiscounted future cash flows to be

derived from the Boeing 737-200 fleet based on historical results

adjusted to reflect its best estimate of future market and operating

conditions. Estimates of the undiscounted future cash flows were not

sufficient to recover the carrying values of the Boeing 737-200 aircraft

in 2003. As a result, the net carrying values of impaired aircraft and

related items not recoverable were reduced to their respective fair value

and an impairment charge of $3.6 million was recognized in 2003.

Estimates of fair value represent the Company’s best estimate based

on industry trends and reference to market rates.  

In 2004, the Company entered into a sales agreement for its remaining

Boeing 737-200 aircraft. Gains on the sale of the aircraft of $1.1 million

in each of 2004 and 2005 are included within Non-operating income

(expense).   In 2005, the Company sold parts related to its Boeing 737-

200, resulting in a gain of $0.3 million which is also included within Non-

operating income (expense).

11. Related Party Transactions

The following is a summary of significant related party transactions that

occurred during 2005, 2004 and 2003. Except as otherwise discussed,

the payments to and from the related parties in the ordinary course of

business were based on prevailing market rates.

Continental Airlines. Since 1998, Continental has implemented a

comprehensive commercial and services alliance with COPA.  Key

elements of the alliance include:  similar brand images, code sharing,

co-branding of the OnePass frequent flyer program in Latin America,

joint construction and operation of the Panama Presidents Club VIP

lounge, joint purchasing, maintenance and engineering support and a

number of other marketing, sales and service initiatives.

As a result of these activities, the Company paid Continental $16.9

million, $14.1 million, and $13.5 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003,

respectively, and Continental paid COPA $16.1 million, $12.3 million,

and $14.1 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. The Company

owed Continental $2.3 million and $3.3 million at December 31, 2005

and 2004, respectively. The services provided are considered normal to

the daily operations of both airlines. 

Banco Continental de Panamá, S.A. (“Banco Continental”). The

Company has a strong commercial banking relationship with Banco

Continental, which is controlled by the Company’s controlling

shareholders. The Company obtains financing from Banco

Continental under short- to medium-term financing arrangements to

fund aircraft pre-payments and for part of the commercial loan

tranche of one of the Company’s Export-Import Bank facilities. The

Company also maintains general lines of credit and time deposit

accounts with Banco Continental.

Interest payments to Banco Continental totaled $1.6 million, $1.1 million

and $0.7 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively, and the Company

received $1.0 million, $1.1 million, and $0.5 million in 2005, 2004 and

2003, respectively. The debt balance outstanding at December 31

amounted to $25.7 million and $15.3 million in 2005 and 2004,

respectively. These amounts are included in “Current maturities of long-

term debt” and “Long-term debt” in the Consolidated Balance Sheets.

ASSA Compañía de Seguros, S.A. (“ASSA”). Panamanian law

requires the Company to maintain its insurance policies through a

local insurance company.  The Company has contracted ASSA, an

insurance company controlled by the Company’s controlling

shareholders, to provide substantially all of its insurance.  ASSA has,

in turn, reinsured almost all of the risks under those policies with

insurance companies in North America.  The net payment to ASSA,

after taking into account the reinsurance of these risks totaled $0.03

million in each of 2005, 2004 and 2003.

Petróleos Delta, S.A. (“Delta Petroleum”). During 2005, the Company

entered into a contract with Petróleos Delta, S.A. to supply its jet fuel

needs.  The price agreed to under this contract is based on the two

week average of the U.S. Gulf Coast Waterborne Mean index plus local

taxes, certain third-party handling charges and a handling charge to

Delta.  The contract has a one year term that automatically renews for

one year period unless terminated by one of the parties.  While the

Company’s controlling shareholders do not hold a controlling equity

interest in Petróleos Delta, S.A., one of the Company’s executive

officers, Jorge Garcia, previously served as a Project Director at

Petróleos Delta, S.A. and one of the Company’s directors, Alberto

Motta, served on its board of directors.  Payments to Petróleos Delta

totaled $26.5 million from August to December of 2005.

Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. (“Desarrollo Inmobiliario”).

During January 2006, the Company moved into its new headquarters,

a recently constructed building located six miles away from Tocumen

International Airport.  The Company leases five floors consisting of

approximately 104,000 square feet of the building from Desarollo

Inmobiliario, an entity controlled by the same group of investors that

controls CIASA, under a ten-year lease at a rate of $0.1 million per

month.  Payments to Desarrollo Inmobiliario del Este, S.A. totaled

$0.6 million in 2005.

Galindo, Arias & Lopez. Most of the Company’s legal work, including

passing on the validity of the shares offered, is carried out by the law

firm Galindo, Arias & Lopez.  Certain partners of Galindo, Arias & Lopez

are indirect shareholders of CIASA and serve on the Company’s Board

of Directors.  Payments to Galindo, Arias & Lopez totaled $0.3 million,

$0.1 million and $0.2 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

Other Transactions. The Company purchases most of the alcohol

and other beverages served on its aircraft from Motta Internacional,

S.A. and Global Brands, S.A., both of which are controlled by the

Company’s controlling shareholders.  The Company does not have

any formal contracts for these purchases, but pays wholesale prices

based on price lists periodically submitted by those importers.  The

Company paid $0.4 million, $0.4 million and $0.5 million in 2005,

2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company’s telecommunications and other data services have been

provided by Telecarrier, Inc. since February 2003. Some of the

controlling shareholders of CIASA have a controlling interest in

Telecarrier, Inc.  Payments to Telecarrier, Inc. totaled $0.4 million, $0.4

million and $0.2 million in 2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Aircraft Commitments

The Company has a purchase contract with Boeing for 17 Boeing 737-

Next Generation aircraft, under which the Company has seven (7) firm

orders and ten (10) purchase rights. Additionally, the Company has a

purchase contract with Embraer for 28 Embraer 190 aircraft, under

which the Company has ten (10) firm orders and 18 purchase options.

The firm orders have an approximate value of $719.3 million based on

the aircraft list price, including estimated amounts for contractual price

escalation and pre-delivery deposits.

During 2006, the Company entered into agreements to execute three (3)

Embraer 190 purchase options as well as one (1) Boeing 737-Next

Generation purchase right, and additional firm commitments to purchase

five (5) Embraer 190 aircraft to be operated by its AeroRepública

subsidiary.   These additional firm orders have an approximate value of

$357.5 million based on the aircraft list price, including estimated

amounts for contractual price escalation and pre-delivery deposits.

The following table summarizes the Company’s firm orders (in millions):

Expected Firm 

Order Deliveries Total

2006 8 $308.8

2007 10 400.9

2008 6 245.6

2009 2 121.5

26 $1,076.8

Covenants

As a result of the various contracts entered into by the Company to

finance Boeing 737-Next Generation aircraft that are guaranteed by the

Export - Import Bank of the United States, the Company is required to

comply with certain financial covenants. These financing covenants,

among other things requires us to maintain, EBITDAR to fixed charge

ratio of at least 2.5 times, a tangible net worth of at least 5 times the

long-term obligations, minimum tangible net worth of $50 million,

EBITDAR for the prior year to be at least 1.9 times the finance charge

expenses for the first year of the agreement and 2.0 times the finance

charge expenses for the remainder of the agreement, net borrowings no

more than 92% of the Company’s capitalization during the first two

years, 90% during the next two years and 85% during the last six years

of the agreement, tangible net worth of at least $30 million for the first

two years, $70 million for the next three years and $120 million for the

last five years of the agreement, and to maintain a minimum of $30

million in available cash for the first five years and $50 million for the

last five years of the agreement.  

As of December 31, 2005, the Company was in compliance with all

required covenants. 

A commercial credit facility requires AeroRepública to maintain certain

financial covenants such as a financial debt to EBITDAR ratio of less

than 4.5. The Company is currently in negotiations with this institution to

restructure the existing two (2) tranche facilities with a one (1) tranche

facility at more favorable terms in the amount of approximately $15

million which will be backed by a guarantee from Copa Holdings, S.A.

The new facility under negotiation will include revised covenants which

under the current facility are not being met by AeroRepública as of

December 31, 2005; AeroRepública received a waiver from the

institution through July 2006.  

If, upon the termination of the waiver noted above, the covenants are

still not being met and no other recourse exists with this institution, the

Company would provide the funds necessary to repay the debt via

other long-term borrowings or from non-working capital funds.
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Labor Unions

Approximately 48% of the Company’s 4,340 employees are unionized.

There are currently seven (7) union organizations; five (5) covering

employees in Panama and two (2) covering employees in Colombia.

The five (5) unions covering employees in Panama include: the

pilots’ union (SIPAC); the flight attendants’ union (SIPANAB); the

mechanics’ union (SINTECMAP); the traffic attendants’ union

(UTRACOPA); and a generalized union (SIELAS), which represents

ground personnel, messengers, drivers, counter agents and other

non-executive administrative staff. The two (2) unions covering

employees in Colombia include:  the pilots’ union (ACDAC) and the

traffic attendant’s union (ACAV). 

The Company finalized negotiations with SIELAS in 2005, and in early

2006, it finalized negotiations with SIPANAB and an arbitration

proceeding with SINTECMAP; extending current agreements with each

of these labor unions for an additional period of four (4) years. 

Lines of Credit for Working Capital and Letters of Credit

The Company maintained available facilities for working capital with

several banks with year-end available balances of $38.5 million and

$9.4 million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively.  

The Company maintained available facilities for letters of credit with

several banks with outstanding balances of $13.7 million and $10.8

million at December 31, 2005 and 2004, respectively. These letters of

credit are pledged for aircraft rentals, maintenance and guarantees for

airport facilities.

In June 2005, the Company and The International Finance Corporation

entered into an agreement for a $15.0 million revolving line of credit

available for working capital purposes.  This line of credit facility

includes commitment fees of 0.50%, plus availability fees of 0.25%.

In September 2005, the Company and Banco Continental entered into

an agreement for a $15.0 million revolving line of credit available for

working capital purposes.  There are no commitment fees or availability

fees on this line of credit facility.

Upon acquisition of AeroRepública, the Company arranged a

commercial credit facility in the amount of $15.0 million, primarily to

refinance existing liabilities and to provide AeroRepública with working

capital.  This facility was divided in two (2) tranches of $5.0 million and

$10.0 million with maturities of three (3) and five (5) years, respectively.

This facility is secured by credit card receivables.  

Termination of General Sales Agent

The Company historically outsourced sales functions in some

outstations through agreements with general sales agents.  Over the

past few years, the Company has been discontinuing existing

agreements in order to reduce distribution costs and take direct control

over these functions. As a result of this process, the Company

terminated general sales agent agreements in 2004 and 2003. In

accordance with SFAS No. 146, “Accounting for Costs Associated with

Exit or Disposal Activities”, the Company recorded, within other

operating expenses, provisions amounting to $1.3 million and $1.0

million in the years ending December 31, 2004 and 2003 respectively,

when the general sales agreements were terminated. 

Payments relating to the termination of the general sales agent

agreements amounted to $1.3 million, $2.9 million, and $0.1 million in

2005, 2004 and 2003, respectively. 

The Company has no remaining GSA agreements with significant

termination contingencies.

13. Subsequent Events

Restricted Stock Awards

In connection with the Company’s 2005 initial public offering, the

Company’s Board of Directors approved one time restricted stock

bonuses to executive officers, managers, certain key employees and

non-employee directors. The restricted stock awards will be granted

pursuant to a new equity-based long-term incentive compensation plan

that the Company adopted in conjunction with the initial public offering,

which provides for grants of restricted stock, stock options and certain

equity-based awards.

On March 28, 2006, the Company granted approximately 937,500

shares of restricted stock awards which will vest over periods ranging

from two (2) to five (5) years. The Company estimates the 2006

compensation cost related to this plan will be $2.5 million.

Dividend distribution (Unaudited)

On May 11, 2006, the Company’s Board of Directors approved a dividend

distribution of approximately $8.3 million, which represents 10% of the

2005 net income. This distribution is expected to be paid in June 2006.

Debt (Unaudited)

On May 15, 2006, the Company entered into a loan agreement for $34.2

million to finance a portion of advanced delivery payments on two

Boeing 737-800 aircraft with delivery months of August and November

2007.  The Company has granted, for the benefit of the borrower, a first

priority security interest in the rights, title and interest over these aircraft.

14. Segment Reporting

Prior to the acquisition of AeroRepública on April 22, 2005, the Company

had one reportable segment. Upon the acquisition of AeroRepública, as

discussed in Note 2, the Company determined it has two reportable

segments, the Copa segment and the AeroRepública segment, primarily

because: (1) management evaluates the financial and operational results

of the Copa segment and AeroRepública segment separately for internal

reporting and management performance evaluation purposes; and (2)

management intends to allow AeroRepública’s existing management to

continue operating the airline as a point-to-point Colombian carrier,

without significant integration into the Copa network.  The accounting

policies of the segments are the same as those described in Note 1,

“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies”. General corporate and

other assets are allocated to the Copa segment.

Operating information for the Copa segment and the AeroRepública

segment for the period ended December 31, 2005 (which includes

the results of AeroRepública only from the date of acquisition) is as

follow (in millions):

December 31, 2005

Operating Revenues:
Copa Segment .............................................................................................................................................................................. $505.7
AeroRepública segment................................................................................................................................................................ 103.0
Elimnations.................................................................................................................................................................................... (0.1)

Consolidated  ........................................................................................................................................................................... $608.6

Depreciation:
Copa Segment .............................................................................................................................................................................. $19.3
AeroRepública segment................................................................................................................................................................ 0.6

Consolidated............................................................................................................................................................................. $19.9

Aircraft Rentals:
Copa Segment .............................................................................................................................................................................. $22.1
AeroRepública segment................................................................................................................................................................ 5.5

Consolidated ............................................................................................................................................................................ $27.6

Operating income:
Copa Segment .............................................................................................................................................................................. $103.0
AeroRepública segment................................................................................................................................................................ 6.1

Consolidated............................................................................................................................................................................. $109.1

Interest expense:
Copa Segment .............................................................................................................................................................................. $(18.3)
AeroRepública segment................................................................................................................................................................ (2.2)

Consolidated............................................................................................................................................................................. $(20.5)

Interest income:
Copa Segment ............................................................................................................................................................................. $3.4
AeroRepública segment  ............................................................................................................................................................. 0.2

Consolidated  ........................................................................................................................................................................... $3.6

Income before income taxes:
Copa Segment ............................................................................................................................................................................. $89.8
AeroRepública segment  ............................................................................................................................................................. 2.8

Consolidated  ........................................................................................................................................................................... $92.6

Total Assets at End of Period:
Copa Segment ............................................................................................................................................................................. $851.1
AeroRepública segment  ............................................................................................................................................................. 98.1
Elimnations  ................................................................................................................................................................................. (32.3)

Consolidated  ........................................................................................................................................................................... $916.9

Information concerning operating revenue by principal geographic area for the period ended December 31 is as follow (in millions):

2005 2004 2003

North America $  86.9 $  66.3 $  51.9

Central America and Caribbean 125.3 104.2 90.7

South America 303.2 148.8 130.4

Panama 93.2 80.5 68.8

Total operating revenue $608.6 $399.8 $341.8

We attribute revenue among the geographical areas based upon point of sales.  Our tangible assets and capital expenditures consist primarily of flight

and related ground support equipment, which is mobile across geographic markets and, therefore, has not been allocated.
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Headquarters

Copa Holdings, S.A.

P.O. Box 0816-06819

Complejo Business Park, Torre Norte

Urbanización Costa del Este 

Panama City, Panama 

Investor Information

To obtain a Form 20-F or other financial

information, visit the company’s website

at: www.copaair.com/investor/default.aspx or write:

Copa Holdings S.A.

P.O. Box 0816-06819

Complejo Business Park, Torre Norte

Urbanización Costa del Este 

Panama City, Panama 

Attn: Investor Relations Dpt.

Transfer Agent and Registrar

Mellon Investor Services LLC

480 Washington Boulevard

Jersey City, NJ 07310-1900

Attn: Shareholder Services

melloninvestor.com/isd

(888) 711-6201

Independent Auditors

Ernst & Young LLP

P.O. Box 0832-1575 W.T.C.

Panama, Republic of Panama

Common Stock

Our common stock trades on the New York Stock

Exchange under the symbol “CPA”.  Shares

outstanding as of December 31, 2005 were:

Class A 30,034,375

Class B 12,778,125

Total 42,812,500

The holders of the Class A shares have no

voting rights except with respect to certain

corporate transformations, mergers,

consolidations or spin-offs, changes of our

corporate purpose, voluntary delisting of the

Class A shares from the NYSE, approval of

nominations of the independent directors or

amendments to the foregoing provisions that

adversely affect the rights and privileges of any

Class A shares. Under certain circumstances

which we believe are not likely in the foreseeable

future, each Class A share will entitle its record

holder to one vote on all matters on which our

shareholders are entitled to vote.

Each Class B share is entitled to one vote on all

matters for which shareholders are entitled to vote.

As of December 31, 2005, CIASA holds all of our

Class B shares, representing approximately

29.8% of our total capital stock and all of the

voting rights associated with our capital stock. As

long as CIASA beneficially owns a majority of the

voting power of our capital stock, it will be able to

elect a majority of our directors and to determine

the outcome of the voting on substantially all

actions that require shareholder approval. 

Our independent directors have the power under

certain circumstances to control or restrict the level

of non-Panamanian ownership of our Class B

shares and the exercise of voting rights attaching to

Class A shares held by non-Panamanian nationals

in order to allow us to comply with Panamanian

airline ownership and control requirements. 

Holders of the Class A and Class B shares will

be entitled to receive dividends to the extent

they are declared by our board of directors in its

absolute discretion. Our Articles of Incorporation

provide that all dividends declared by our board

of directors will be paid equally with respect to

all of the Class A and Class B shares. Our board

of directors has adopted a dividend policy that

contemplates the annual payment of equal

dividends to our Class A and Class B

shareholders in an aggregate amount

approximately equal to 10% of our consolidated

net income for each year. This dividend policy

can be amended or discontinued by our board of

directors at any time for any reason.

For a description of the significant differences in

our corporate governance practices as

compared with a domestic NYSE-listed

company, please visit the Investor Relations

section on our website at: 

www.copaair.com/investor/default.aspx

STOCKHOLDER INFORMATION
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